DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS 195

## PILLERIIN PEETS

Development of instrumental methods for the analysis of textile fibres and dyes





## DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

195

## DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

195

## **PILLERIIN PEETS**

Development of instrumental methods for the analysis of textile fibres and dyes



Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu, Estonia

Dissertation is accepted for the commencement of the degree of Doctor philosophiae in Chemistry on June 12th, 2020 by the Council of Institute of Chemistry, Faculty of Science and Technology, University of Tartu

Supervisor:	Prof. Ivo Leito (PhD), Research Fellow Signe Vahur (PhD), Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Estonia
Opponent:	Dr Anita Quye, University of Glasgow
Commencement:	August 25 <sup>th</sup> , 2020 at 14.15, Ravila 14A (Chemicum), Tartu, auditorium 1020

Publication of this dissertation is granted by University of Tartu, Estonia.

This work has been partially supported by Graduate School of Functional materials and technologies receiving funding from the European Regional Development Fund in University of Tartu, Estonia.



European Regional Development Fund

Investing in your future

ISSN 1406-0299 ISBN 978-9949-03-420-8 (print) ISBN 978-9949-03-421-5 (pdf)

Copyright: Pilleriin Peets, 2020

University of Tartu Press www.tyk.ee

## **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS	7
ABBREVIATIONS	8
1. INTRODUCTION	9
<ol> <li>LITERATURE OVERVIEW</li></ol>	11 11 13 14 16 17 17 19
<ol> <li>3. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION</li></ol>	24 24 24 24 24 26
<ul> <li>3.3. Analysis of textile dyes</li></ul>	26 26 27 28 29
<ul><li>4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION</li></ul>	31
textile fibres	33
<ul> <li>4.1.2. Development of classification methods to identify single- component textile fibres</li></ul>	37 39 44 46 49
SUMMARY	51
REFERENCES	52
SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN	60
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS	61

PUBLICATIONS	63
CURRICULUM VITAE	139
ELULOOKIRJELDUS	140

## LIST OF ORIGINAL PUBLICATIONS

- I. Vahur, S.; Teearu, A.; Peets, P.; Joosu, L.; Leito, I. ATR-FT-IR spectral collection of conservation materials in the extended region of 4000-80 cm<sup>-1</sup>. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, 2016, 408, 13, 3373–3379. DOI: 10.1007/s00216-016-9411-5
- II. Peets, P.; Leito, I.; Pelt, J.; Vahur, S. Identification and classification of textile fibres using ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy with chemometric methods. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 2017, 173, 175–181. DOI: 10.1016/j.saa.2016.09.007
- III. Peets, P.; Vahur, S.; Kruve, A.; Haljasorg, T.; Herodes, K.; Pagano, T.; Leito, I. Instrumental techniques in the analysis of natural red textile dyes. *Journal of Cultural Heritage*, 2020, 42, 19–27. DOI: 10.1016/ j.culher. 2019.09.002
- IV. Peets, P.; Kaupmees, K.; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Reflectance FT-IR spectroscopy as a viable option for textile fiber identification. *Heritage Science*, 2019, 7, 93. DOI: 10.1186/s40494019-0337-z
- V. Oras, E.; Anderson, J.; Tõrv, M.; Vahur, S.; Rammo, R.; Remmer, S.; Mölder, M.; Malve, M.; Saag, L.; Saage, R.; Teearu-Ojakäär, A.; Peets, P.; Tambets, K.; Metspalu, M.; Lees, D.C.; Barclay, M.V.L.; Hall, M.J.R.; Ikram, S.; Piombino-Mascali, D. Multidisciplinary investigation of two Egyptian child mummies curated at the University of Tartu Art Museum, Estonia (Late/Graeco-Roman Periods). *PLOS ONE*, 2020. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0227446

#### Author's contribution

- **Paper I.** Performed all the measurements of the textile fibres, helped to write the manuscript.
- Paper II. Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed all the experiments.
- Paper III. Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed all the experiments.
- Paper IV. Lead author in preparing the manuscript. Performed most of the experiments (excluding classification with random forest)
- Paper V. Performed measurements of the textile fibres.

## ABBREVIATIONS

ATR	attenuated total reflectance
DA	discriminant analysis
DAD	diode array detector
DART	direct analysis in real-time
DHB	2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid
DLaTGS	deuterated lanthanum $\alpha$ alanine doped triglycine sulphate
DMSO	dimethyl sulfoxide
DRIFTS	diffuse reflectance infrared Fourier transform spectroscopy
ESI	electrospray ionisation
FLD	fluorescence detector
FORS	fibre optics reflectance spectroscopy
FT-ICR	Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance
FT-IR	Fourier transform infrared
GC	gas chromatography
HPLC	high-performance liquid chromatography
HRMS	high-resolution mass spectrometry
Ι	passed/reflected light
$I_0$	incident light
LC	liquid chromatography
MALDI	matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionisation
mATR	micro attenuated total reflectance
MS	mass spectrometry
m/z	mass-to-charge ratio
nESI	nano-electrospray ionisation
PCA	principal component analysis
ppm	parts per million
r	reflectance
RF	random forest
SERS	surface-enhanced Raman spectroscopy
UV-Vis	ultraviolet-visible light

## **1. INTRODUCTION**

Historical and archaeological objects are the oldest and probably the most important items to learn about our ancestors, heritage and past. Textiles have a special place among them. Besides practical clothing purpose, they can represent patriotism, sovereignty, peace and war when exploited as flags or banners. Knitting patterns in folk clothes can represent the nationality and origin of the wearer and usage of expensive dyes and fibres can show the social status. To see the historical story behind the object, investigators need to understand how, when and where it was made. These questions become easier to answer with the knowledge of what materials the object consists of.<sup>1</sup> The main aim of this thesis was to develop methods to be able to answer questions "What kind of fibres have been used to make this object?" and "What kind of dyes have been used to dye this object?"

In practice, several different fibre types can be used, many of them having similar properties and appearance, which makes the identification more difficult. Furthermore, in practical situations often contaminated or degraded samples have to be analysed. In many fields, especially in archaeology and conservation, it is very important to use non-destructive identification methods. Thus, this thesis aims, where possible, towards less- or non-invasive methods for identifying textile fibres.

Analysis of textile dyes is very different from fibres, firstly because the amount of dyes in textiles is much smaller thus needing much more sensitive analysis approaches. Also, the variety of dye components is much wider, and thus besides sensitivity, the selectivity of the instrumental methods has a very important role.

For solving these difficulties, in this work, several techniques were used for the development of analysis methods for textile fibres and dyes. For textile fibres, Fourier transform infrared spectroscopy (FT-IR) with different measuring approaches (attenuated total reflectance (ATR), reflectance (r)) and classification was used. In general, a specular reflectance-FT-IR approach has been less used for the analysis of samples with an uneven surface. It was applied in this work as a non-invasive method for textile fibre identification. Method development for textile dyes included a number of instruments like high-performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) with ultraviolet-visible (UV-Vis) detector, fluorescence detector (FLD) and mass spectrometric (MS) detector, and also high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) with matrixassisted laser desorption/ionisation (MALDI) and electrospray ionisation (ESI). During the work, suitable extraction methods for fibres (case-study samples) and dye sources (seven red plant-, insect- and fungi-based dyes), including right solvents, eluents, parameters etc for instruments were found to identify as many dye components as possible and create an as universal as possible methods for dye analysis.

The overarching objective of this work was to develop a set of methods to determine the composition of textile fibres and dyes.

The specific research objectives of this dissertation are the following:

- 1. Development of analytical methods for the analysis of textile fibres using FT-IR spectroscopy with different reflection techniques (ATR, reflectance) combined with chemometric classification methods (*publications I, II, IV*).
- 2. Development of analytical methods for the determination of chemical composition of different red dyes using a set of chromatographic and mass spectrometric techniques *(publication III)*.
- 3. Demonstration of the applicability of the developed set of methods for the analysis of textile fibres and dyes on case studies from different cultural heritage objects which some of them representing Estonian history and handicraft (*publications III–V*).

An additional value of this PhD work are collections of ATR-FT-IR and reflectance-FT-IR spectra of 16 textile fibres and altogether 113 chromatograms, UV-Vis, fluorescence and mass spectra of seven different red dyes that can be used by conservators, forensic and material scientists.

## 2. LITERATURE OVERVIEW

## 2.1. Importance of analysis of textile fibres and dyes

Identification of textile fibres and dyes is essential to learn more about the analysed object. In historical aspects, the knowledge of the composition can provide us with information about the age, origin and condition of the textile piece.<sup>2,3</sup> Usage of synthetic fibre indicates that the object was made or repaired after 19<sup>th</sup> century<sup>4</sup>, while usage of cochineal in Estonia might refer to imported dye or textile<sup>5</sup>. Besides learning about history, knowing the composition helps to understand better how to preserve, restore (what types of fibres are needed for restoration) and store the object (some fibres or dyes might be very lightresistant, thus needing darker environment)<sup>2,3,6-8</sup>. Identification of fibres and dyes can also be helpful in forensic investigations, where the origin of an unknown fibre can reveal information about the investigation case<sup>9,10</sup>. Selection of fibre types is wide, and along with that are the quality, properties and price of the textiles. Quick, easy and reliable textile fibre identification can prevent that wrong textile material is used for quality product making either by accident or as fraud.<sup>11–13</sup> Identification of dyes has also many other aspects besides cultural heritage, like searching for potentially harmful synthetic (or even natural) dves<sup>14,15</sup>.

Although the analysis of textiles provides a lot of valuable information, there are nevertheless many problems we might face along the way to results. When exploring historically valuable textile pieces, it has to be kept in mind that damaging the historical object can be unacceptable and thus either only very small sample pieces are available or (in most of the cases) no sample can be taken at all and totally non-destructive analysis methods must be used<sup>16,17</sup>. Besides that, many historical textile items are partially degraded and contaminated, which further complicates the analysis<sup>18</sup>. When focusing on textile dyes, it is important that in many cases, mixtures of different dye sources are used, making the analysis and identification even more complex. For that reason, identifying dyes in historical objects, we need instruments that are very selective and sensitive.<sup>19</sup>

## 2.2. Overview of different textile fibres

Textiles are flexible woven materials, consisting of fibrous materials which by their chemical composition are different kinds of polymers<sup>20</sup>. By their origin textile fibres can be classified into two groups – natural and man-made fibres. Natural fibres can be both plant and animal origin. Man-made fibres can be either regenerated from natural sources like cellulose or synthesised. Regenerated and synthetic materials are quite new: regenerated textile fibres came into commercial use in the 19<sup>th</sup> century and first synthetic fibre (polyamide) dates back to the 1930s.<sup>20,21</sup> Due to their perishable nature, there are not that

many ancient textile pieces to learn about textile history from thousands of years from now. There are, however, some prominent exceptions, for example, the Egyptians tombs. In these collections from the tombs, we can learn that linen (flax) fibre was probably the most important textile fibre in ancient Egypt.<sup>22</sup> In Table 1 common textile fibre types are grouped according to their origin.

Natural fibres		Man-made fibres		
Animal fibres	Plant fibres	<b>Regenerated fibres</b>	Synthetic fibres	
Wool	Cotton	Viscose	Polyester	
Silk	Flax (linen)	Acetate, triacetate	Polyamide	
	Jute	Lyocell (Tencel)	Polyacrylic	
	Sisal	Fibreglass	Elastane	
	Hemp		Polyethylene	
			Polypropylene	

Table 1. Some common textile fibres classified by their origin.

### Natural fibres

Natural textile fibres can be classified into two groups – plant fibres, which in their chemical composition are cellulose-based, and animal fibres, which are proteinaceous materials.

The most common animal fibres are wool and silk. In Estonia, local wool has been very popular in making carpets, carriage blankets and folk skirts and coats. Wool can be obtained from many animals, but most commonly used is sheep wool. Other animals whose fur is used are alpaca, rabbit, yak, goat (e.g. cashmere) etc.<sup>1,20,21</sup> The main components in all of those animal hairs is keratin ( $\alpha$ -keratinous), which roughly in its chemical composition is same – proteins consisting different amino acids. The exact sequence of the amino acids is what differentiates between species and other keratin forms (nails, skin, feathers).<sup>23</sup> Another widely used proteinaceous fibre is silk. Due to its high qualities like strength, elasticity, softness, durability and ability to bind chemical dyes, silk is still highly valuable fibre despite the huge variety of new man-made fibres. Although silk fibre is obtained from several insects, commercially only filament produced from silk moth Bombyx mori is used for textile making. Pure silk contains around 70-80% of fibroin and 20-30% of sericin. Sericin is the glue that is dissolved during processing and thus prepared final silk textile consists mostly of fibroin. Fibroin in its chemical composition is less-complex than keratin, consisting mostly of glycine, alanine, serine and small amounts of cvstine.24

Most common **natural plant-based fibres** are cotton, linen jute, and hemp. In Estonian history, probably linen, grown locally, was the most important fibre for making clothes like everyday shirts and trousers. Hemp and jute have been used for making ropes and bags. On their chemical composition, all of these are mainly cellulose with the addition of hemicellulose, fatty substances, pectins, mineral particles and water. The main component – cellulose – is a linear polymer of glucose, which in its simplest form is  $\beta$ -1,4-linked units. Hemicellulose is a more complex group of non-linear polysaccharides. The ratio of cellulose and hemicellulose depends strongly on the fibre type. For example, while cotton is almost entirely cellulose-based, bast fibres like linen can contain significant amounts of hemicellulose.<sup>1,4</sup> Physical appearance of the fibres under a microscope is in many cases very different – cotton fibre is narrow flat with an apparent twist along with the fibre, linen is more round shape with the nodes along with the fibre.<sup>4</sup>

### **Regenerated** fibres

Regenerated textiles are produced from natural organic fibres like cellulose or proteins. The first man-made thermoplastic fibre was **acetate**. Difference between acetate and triacetate is in the number of cellulose hydroxyl groups that are acetylated. Acetate finds its usage in linings and furnishing, while triacetate is used in sportswear and garments that need to keep their shape.<sup>23</sup> The most popular regenerated fibre – **viscose** – was first produced in 1898. Viscose fibres are produced from wood and in their chemical compositions, it is hydrocellulose. Viscose is very hygroscopic, light-resistant and durable.<sup>21</sup> The invention of new generation cellulose-fibre called **lyocell** started in the 1980s. This, at that time, innovative technique includes solving cellulose in an organic solvent (*N*-methyl-morpholine *N*-oxide), after what fibres are spun by extrusion to a spinning bath. Lyocell is mostly sold by its trademark Tencel<sup>TM</sup>.<sup>23</sup>

## Synthetic fibres

First synthetic fibre – **polyamide** aka **nylon** – was synthesized for the first time in the 1930s. Synthetic fibres are high-molecular compounds, made from lowmolecular components which can origin from coal, crude oil or natural gas.<sup>21</sup> Polyamide/nylon is a common name for all aliphatic polyamides, the most common ones being nylon 6 and nylon 6,6. Nowadays the most commonly used synthetic fibre – **polyester** – got its start in the 1940s. Chemically is polyester a polyethylene-terephthalate.<sup>20,21</sup> **Polyacrylic** (polyacrylonitrile) is a co-polymer, consisting of at least 50% of acrylonitrile monomers. Rest of the polymer consisting of different acrylacid esters, vinylacetate-, acrylamide- and metacrylamide esters. **Elastane** is elastic fibre, consisting a least 85% of segmented polyurethane.<sup>20</sup>

## 2.3. Overview of textile dyes

Textile dyes are soluble organic compounds that can give intensive colour in very small quantity. Chemically, for a compound to absorb visible light, thus being colourful, it needs the resonance structure. Specific bonds in molecule absorb certain wavelength in light and we see the transmitted light, which due to absorbance is now different. Dyes hold that property by consisting of aromatic rings with many different side chains. Some of the common base core aromatics in textile dyes are benzene, naphthalene and anthracene. For colourful compounds, these aromatic structures need right chromophore like for example azo (-N=N) or quinoid fragment.<sup>25</sup>

Dyes can be classified by their origin, chemical composition, dyeing method or usage. By their origin, natural textile dyes can be extracted from plants, insects, mushrooms etc. Besides a wide variety of natural dyes, starting with the synthesises of mauvine in 1856, the list has been and is still expanding with many synthetic dyes. Classification according to chemical composition can divide dyes into groups of azo, anthraquinone, flavonoid, indigoid, gallotannin, carotenoid, anthocyanidin etc. Another important way to classify dyes is according to their dyeing technique, which can differ from each other greatly and depend on chosen fibre and dye type. Direct dyeing is the simplest method involving soaking or boiling dye source in water along with fibres. This method for durable dyeing is suitable only for certain dyes with polar groups that can form strong bonds with fibre. The more used method is mordant dyeing, where mordants such as metal ions, tannins etc are used to create chelation between fibre and dye. Some of the examples of popular metal mordants through history are alum (KAl(SO<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>·12H<sub>2</sub>O), tin(II)chloride and potassium dichromate. Vat dyeing is a special technique used with indigo and shellfish, where the soluble form of the dye is soaked to the textile fibre and after the fibre is taken out of the bath and exposed to oxygen, the insoluble colourful dye is formed during oxidation.5,25-27

#### 2.3.1. Natural red textile dyes

Variety of dye sources is wide and even wider is the colour option, since the exact colour depends on the dyeing method, used mordants and fibre<sup>5</sup>. In this chapter, only natural red dye sources that are used in this works experimental part, are generally described.

**Dyer's madder** (*Rubia tinctorum L*) is one of the most popular sources for dyeing, used already in classical antiquity. The main source for dyes in this plant are the roots, which contain numerous different anthraquinone aglycones and glycosides (anthraquinone with primeverose group), the most important one being alizarin and its primeveroside called ruberythric acid. Addition to alizarin, other important components that have dyeing effect are purpurin, pseudo-purpurin, rubiadin, munjistin, lucidin etc. More stable glycosides are also found for pseudopurpurin and rubiadin, addition to lucidin primeveroside and rubianin. The core structure of the anthraquinone along with substitute groups for some of the components is given in Figure 1.5.28



Alizarin  $-R_1=OH, R_2=H, R_3=H$ Ruberythric acid  $-R_1=C_{11}H_{19}O_{10}, R_2=H, R_3=H$ Pseudopurpurin  $-R_1=COOH, R_2=OH, R_3=OH$ Rubiadin  $-R_1=CH_3, R_2=OH, R_3=H$ Munjistin  $-R_1=COOH, R_2=OH, R_3=H$ Purpurin  $-R_1=OH, R_2=H, R_3=OH$ Lucidin  $-R_1=CH_2OH, R_2=OH, R_3=H$ Xantopurpurin  $-R_1=H, R_2=OH, R_3=H$ Nordamnacanthal  $-R_1=COOH, R_2=OH, R_3=H$ 

**Figure 1.** The core structure of the anthraquinone compounds in dyer's madder with substitute groups for characteristic dye components.

The main dyeing component in **redwood** (brazilwood, *Caesalpinia echinata*) is brazilein, which is produced during the autooxidation of brazilin (both structures given in Figure 2)<sup>5,29,30</sup>. **Logwood** (*Haematoxylum campechianum*) contains also small amounts of brazilein and brazilin, but the main component in this wood is hematoxylin, which forms hematein after autooxidation. Hematoxylin and hematein are structurally very similar to brazilein and brazilin.<sup>5</sup>



Figure 2. Chemical structures of dyes from logwood, redwood and sandalwood.

**Sandalwood** (*Pterocarpus santalinus L*.) composition is more unique because it contains a row of different compounds that are poorly soluble in water. While those components are more difficult to extract from the heartwood, they are more durable to light and washing in the textile. Main dye components in sandalwood are santalin A, santalin B (see Figure 2) and many other flavonoids, like santal, pterocarpin, maackiain etc. Besides dyes, wood also contains tannins which act as a mordant during the dyeing process.<sup>5,31</sup>

Discovery of America in the 15<sup>th</sup> century changed the market and trade of dyes and reason for that is a parasite insect called **cochineal** (*Dactylopius coccus*). Cochineal insect consists mainly of carminic acid and small amounts of

kermesic acid, flavokermesic acid (see Figure 3) and isomers for carminic acid. Cochineal gives very intensive, bright red and durable colour, with different shades depending on the use of mordants.<sup>5,32,33</sup> Another insect used for dyeing is kermes (*Kermes vermilio*), which in the 15<sup>th</sup> century was one of the most expensive and luxurious dye. Dyeing components in kermes are kermesic acid and flavokermesic acid, which have especially good colour fastness in silk and wool.<sup>5</sup>



 $\begin{array}{l} Flavokermesic \ acid - R_1 = H, \ R_2 = H \\ Kermesic \ acid - R_1 = OH, \ R_2 = H \\ Carminic \ acid - R_1 = OH \\ R_2 = C_6 H_{11} O_5 (glycose \ unit) \end{array}$ 

Figure 3. Core structure of the anthraquinone compound in insects with substitute groups for characteristic dye components.

**Bloodred webcap** (*Cortinarius sanguineus*) is a poisonous mushroom, commonly spread in Europe and North-America. Dyeing compounds in bloodred webcap are different anthraquinones and their glycosides like emodin, dermorubin, dermocybin etc. But what makes this dye source very special and distinct from others is its content of chloro-compounds like 5-chlorodermorubin, 7-chloroemodin and 5,7-dichloroemodin.<sup>5,34,35</sup>

## 2.3.2. Red dyes and dyeing in Estonian history

The oldest plant-dyed textiles in Estonia date back to 14<sup>th</sup> century, which were presumably dyed red with northern bedstraw (*Galium Boreale*) or alder bark. Until the 19<sup>th</sup> century, plant-based dyes were the only ones used, which were replaced with the rise of aniline dyes. But before synthetic dyes, many foreign natural red dye sources were also used like dyer's madder, cochineal, kermes and brazilwood. From local plants, shades of red can also be obtained from blueberries and blackberries. For getting different shades and more intensive colours, mordant usage was well known also in Estonia. Besides traditional metal mordants, natural mordants included e.g cranberry juice, urine, sour kvass and sauerkraut.<sup>36</sup>

# 2.4. Instrumental techniques used to analyse textile fibres and dyes

The wide variety of textile fibres and even richer choice of textile dyes makes the identification and characterization of these materials challenging. Especially difficult is the analysis of dyes, since their concentration in samples is very low, compared to fibres, which are the main components. Since these two materials are very different by their abundance in textile samples, very different instruments are used for their analysis. The most widely used techniques in the analysis of textile fibres and dyes are described below.

## 2.4.1. Analysis of textile fibres

Textile fibres are solid polymeric materials, many of them insoluble in any solvent<sup>20</sup>. Due to that, mostly analytical techniques suitable for solid samples are used. In Table 2 the advantages and disadvantages of different techniques used for textile fibre analysis are presented. Below are described more thoroughly instrumental techniques that are used in the experimental part of this thesis.

Technique	Advantages	Disadvantages
Visual micro-	Quick, easy, inexpensive, none or	Difficult to distinguish between
scopic analysis	very limited sample preparation,	man-made fibres, might need
4,20,37,38,II,IV	can be non-destructive.	cleaning when fibres are
		contaminated or have additives
		(glue, paint, etc), in many cases
		impregnation with water or
		glycerine is needed.
Raman spectro-	Can be non-invasive, easy, quick,	Can be damaging to the sample,
scopy 9,10,39,40	can be portable.	textile dyes (fluorescence) are a
		great disturbance, distinguishing
		between cellulose-based fibres is
		complicated or impossible.
FT-IR spectro-	Quick, easy, inexpensive, can be	Distinguishing between cellulose-
scopy 5,7,15,41-	non-invasive (reflectance mode) or	based plant fibres is complicated or
48,1,11,1V,V	slightly destructive (ATR mode),	impossible, additives on the fibres
	distinguishing between man-made	can interfere with the interpretation
	fibres is possible, textile dyes do	of the fibre.
	not interfere, can be portable.	
Pyrolysis-gas	An information-rich technique that	Destructive technique, sample
chromatography	can distinguish small differences in	preparation is time- and sample-
$(GC)^{20,49,50}$	the polymer structure. Technique is	consuming, fragmenting technique,
	very sensitive and with good	complex chromatograms and for
	reproducibility.	the interpretation special software
		is needed, rather expensive
		equipment.

Table 2. Different instrumental techniques used for the analysis of textile fibres.

Microscopic analysis is probably the quickest, easiest and most used technique for the identification of different natural textile fibres (e.g. cellulose-based fibres). However, most of the modern man-made fibres are almost identical under microscope, thus impossible to identify using only visual observation.<sup>20,37</sup>

For polymeric organic compounds like fibres, different spectroscopic approaches like infrared and Raman spectroscopies are very suitable analysis techniques.<sup>3,10,12,13,39,41–45</sup> Advantages of these techniques do not rely only on the capability of analysing solid samples, though this is a very important aspect, but also on their easy and quick usage, little or no sample preparation at all and in many cases non-destructiveness<sup>20,41,II,IV</sup>.

FT-IR (Fourier transform infrared) spectroscopy has shown remarkably good results in analysing textile fibres easily, quickly, in many cases non-destructively, both in qualitative and quantitative way<sup>3,13,42–45,II</sup>. For these reasons, it was chosen as the main method of fibre identification in this thesis, with the aim to expand the capabilities of this technique.

FT-IR is a vibrational spectroscopic technique for gaining information about chemical bonds present in molecules of the sample. When irradiating the sample with infrared radiation, molecules absorb that radiation at specific wavenumbers (each chemical bond absorb at certain wavenumber) and start to vibrate. When measuring the incident light ( $I_0$ ) and passed/reflected light (I) at a range of 4000-225 cm<sup>-1</sup>, it is possible to calculate absorbance intensity, and with Fourier transform calculations, obtain the infrared spectrum. Every compound has its unique FT-IR spectrum and identification of unknown samples is possible with a comparison of them with standard sample spectrum.<sup>51,52</sup>

The most common FT-IR sampling techniques are transmittance<sup>51,52</sup>, attenuated total reflectance  $(ATR)^{13,51-53}$ , specular reflectance<sup>51,52,54</sup> and diffuse reflectance  $(DRIFTS)^{51,52,55,56}$ . For the analysis of solid samples like fibres, transmittance is not well suitable since very low concentrations are needed, or in case of solid samples, very thin layers must be used.

Currently, the most used sampling technique is ATR-FT-IR. This approach enables to analyse all different kind of samples – solids, liquids, thick samples and very small sample pieces. With ATR-mode, a sample is placed onto the ATR crystal (made of e.g. diamond or germanium), pressed against it and IR beam is passed through the crystal under a fixed and well-defined angle with respect to the crystal surface. For total reflectance to occur, the sample's refractive index must be lower than the refractive index of the crystal and the angle between the beam and the surface normal must be higher than the critical angle (e.g. 40 deg for a diamond, 22 deg for germanium when the refractive index for the sample is  $1.5^{52}$ ). Even though total reflectance occurs and the beam is reflected back into the crystal, it does interact with the sample that is pressed against the crystal surface. Part of the beam is absorbed – attenuated by the sample. Radiation with different wavenumbers is absorbed to a different extent and as a result, ATR-FT-IR spectrum is recorded.<sup>46,51,52</sup> ATR-FT-IR has shown excellent results in the analysis of textile fibres<sup>3,13,43</sup>. But besides many advantages of ATR, it still is a contact method, and the high pressure needed for close contact between samples and the crystal is potentially damaging to the samples. This limits the use of ATR in case of valuable fragile samples that cannot be impacted in any way.

For these cases, non-contact reflectance approaches can be more preferred techniques. There are two non-contact reflectance techniques used in FT-IR specular reflectance and diffuse reflectance (DRIFTS), collectively termed as reflectance-FT-IR (r-FT-IR). With specular reflectance-FT-IR approach, the infrared radiation is directed onto the sample under a certain angle – while most of the radiation is reflected back, some of it is absorbed in the surface layer of the sample, so that the spectrum of the reflected radiation differs from the spectrum of the incident radiation.<sup>46,51,52</sup> In general, specular reflectance-FT-IR application is analysing samples with very even mirror-like surface<sup>46</sup>. However, in many cases it is impossible to gain such surface, especially without altering the samples, thus some scientists in the field of cultural heritage have tried applying specular reflectance-FT-IR to samples with rough surface<sup>48,57,IV</sup>. DRIFTS method is used to analyse samples with a very rough and uneven surface. In this case, an incident beam is reflected diffusely and special mirrors are used to gathered diffusely reflected light and direct it into the detector.<sup>46</sup> In many cases of using specular reflectance-FT-IR instrument, the recorded spectra are formed via a combination of specular reflectance and diffuse reflectance components<sup>57,58</sup>. Although this might make the interpretation of spectra more complicated, it is easier to work that way and the recorded spectra still have shape characteristic to the materials used and are thus suitable for characterisation and identification of fibres.<sup>48,57,IV</sup>

## 2.4.2. Analysis of textile dyes

For textile dye analysis, a range of different instruments has been used and, in this chapter, some of them are discussed. In Table 3 the techniques are compared, according to their advantages and limitations in the analysis of textile dyes.

Technique	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages
LC-UV-Vis/	LC for components separation and detec-	LC's ability of component separation is	Components must be dissolved for LC.
DAD <sup>2,18,28,30,59–67,III</sup>	tion by absorbance in the UV (200–	very useful since dyes are often complex	Sample preparation destructive and time-
	400  nm) and Vis ranges ( $400-780  nm$ ) for	mixtures; detection in the Vis range is	consuming. UV-Vis is often not sensitive
	component identification. DAD enables	selective to dyes. The technique is	enough for all the components and some-
	recording the whole spectrum.	mature and abundantly used for	times not selective enough (absorbance
		analysing dyes.	spectra are wide and uncharacteristic).
			Without standards, difficult to dis-
			tinguish between similar components.
LC-FLD <sup>67,68,III</sup>	LC for components separation, FLD for	LC's ability of component separation is	Components must be dissolved for LC –
	detecting components that emit	very useful. If a compound is	sample preparation destructive and time-
	fluorescence light.	fluorescent, then detection is typically	consuming. Not all compounds fluoresce,
		more selective and sensitive than UV-	might need derivatisation. Without
		Vis absorbance.	standards, difficult to distinguish
			between similar components.
LC-MS <sup>2,19,26,67,69–</sup>	LC for components separation, MS for	LC's ability of component separation is	Components must be dissolved for LC –
73,111	components identification (possible to	very useful. MS is highly sensitive, very	sample preparation destructive and time-
	identify all components that ionize under	selective for identification, enhanced by	consuming. For MS the right detection
	selected conditions).	the use of tandem-MS. The technique is	mode (negative or positive ion) and
		mature and abundantly used for	conditions have to be used for all the
		analysing dyes.	components to ionise.
GC-MS 74-78	GC for components separation, MS for	GC's ability of separation is very useful.	Components must be volatile and
	components identification (possible to	MS is highly sensitive and very selective	thermally stable. Needs destructive and
	identify all components that ionize under	for identification. The technique is	time-consuming extraction from fibres.
	selected conditions).	mature and abundantly used.	Extensive fragmentation. Complex mass
			spectrum, interpretation based on
			reference spectra (library). As dye
			components are not volatile, they need
			derivatisation which might be time- and
			resource-consuming and not always
			efficient.

Table 3. Instrumental techniques used for the analysis of textile dyes.

Technique	Description	Advantages	Disadvantages
Direct HRMS <sup>79–</sup> <sup>81,III</sup>	With direct MS dyes are analysed from	Soft ionisation methods (ESI, MALDI)	Mass spectra are complex and might be
,	libre or solution without previous chromatographic separation. High	can be used, no extensive tragmentation. Verv information-rich mass spectra.	complicated to interpret since there's no previous separation of compounds. When
	resolution and high $m/z$ accuracy enable	Accurate $m/z$ values enable reliably	using ESI/APCI or other ionisation
	identifying components more reliably (not	identifying compounds. Possible to	where solution form is used, the sample
	just nominal mass-to-charge ratio $(m/z)$ ).	analyse directly from fibre without	needs destructive and time-consuming
	Direct analysis from the fibre can be done	sample preparation when using MALDI.	preparation. For MALDI, suitable matrix
	with MALDI or DART.		substance must be found.
Raman / SERS <sup>82–87</sup>	With Raman spectroscopy it is possible to	Sensitive method – very small samples	Sample surface must be coated with
	gain information about chemical bonds in	amounts can be used (as small as single	metal nanoparticles. Mordant dye
	compounds, thus characterise the structure.	fibre with 1mm length). Recording	components might need extraction from
	With SERS Raman spectra are recorded	spectra is a fast procedure.	fibre (due to dye-metal cation complex),
	from dyes on the fibre surface by en-		which introduces challenging sample
	hancing the Raman signal and quenching		preparation. Interpretation of mixtures
	the interfering fluorescence using metal		can be difficult.
	surface.		
FORS <sup>22,88,89</sup>	FORS enables recording dye spectra in the	A non-invasive method, analysis directly	Spectra are usually not characteristic
	UV-Vis range directly from the dyed fibre	from fibre – does not need extraction.	enough for positive identification. In the
	surface.	Possible to analyse <i>in-situ</i> . Recording a	case of mixtures, peaks overlap. Useful
		spectrum is fast and simple.	rather as a preliminary method. When
			analysing directly from fibre, dye con-
			centration cannot be changed (both too
			low and too high might be a problem).
Fluorescence	Fluorescence emission spectra are mea-	Due to fibre optics, does not need an	Not all compounds fluoresce. In
spectroscopy /	sured with the fibre optic system directly	extraction and is a non-invasive method.	mixtures, spectra from dyes might
microfluorometry	from fibre or from solution. 3D spectrum	Often quite selective, since not all dyes	overlap and/or interfere.
8,22,90–94	can be obtained when recording emission	fluoresce. Compounds give special	
	spectra at different excitation wavelengths.	emission spectra at different excitation	
		wavelengths.	

One of the most used approaches for analysing textile dyes is chromatographic separation with different detectors. Since dyes are a rather diverse group of molecules with different sizes, mostly polar features and often not volatile, liquid chromatography (LC) is the most used separation technique in this field. Liquid chromatography is an analytical separation technique using liquid mobile phase to carry analytes through a solid stationary phase to separate them by their chemical and physical properties<sup>59</sup>. For textile dye analysis, liquid chromatography with UV-Vis detection has been the most widespread technique since the original developments by Wouters and Verhecken<sup>60,95</sup>. For several decades, numerous research groups have relied on this approach, where liquid chromatography is used to separate compounds and UV-Vis or diode array detection (DAD) is used to detect colourful compounds<sup>2,18,28,30,61-66</sup>. When using diode array detection, dye compounds can also be characterized by UV-Vis spectra addition to detection. However, the low specificity and characteristic of UV-Vis spectral shapes and low sensitivity has led to an understanding that HPLC with mass spectrometric detection (MS) is a much more suitable technique for identifying such a wide variety of different dye components<sup>2,19,26,69-73</sup>. MS coupled with LC enables to characterizing each chromatographic peak with its mass spectrum containing the signal corresponding to the mass-to-charge ratio (m/z) of the ion formed from the corresponding compound. With tandem mass spectrometry, it is possible to study fragmentation and with this information learn more about the structures of the compounds.<sup>26,71</sup>

MS is highly universal. It can detect all components in the solution that can be ionised. The high universality can in some point be a disadvantage as well – when using low-resolution detection then in complex mixtures several components might have the same nominal m/z, thus identification of the relevant components might be more difficult. Usage of high-resolution mass spectrometry (HRMS) enables obtaining m/z with sufficient accuracy so that in many cases molecular composition can be deduced from the m/z ratio without the use of a standard substance<sup>19,96</sup>. The HRMS used in this thesis was Fourier transform ion cyclotron resonance (FT-ICR) mass spectrometer, which, besides high m/z accuracy, is also able to separately detect signals corresponding to similar m/z values with high resolution and thus differentiate between compounds with close  $m/z^{97}$ . With HRMS different ionization methods can be used<sup>98</sup>. In this work matrix-assisted laser desorption/ionization (MALDI)79,97-99 and electrospray ionization (ESI)<sup>98,100</sup> have been used, suitable for a variety of complex materials, including those that are (partly) polymeric, with low volatility and cannot be easily separated by chromatographic methods. With direct analysis, without chromatographic separation, mass spectra can have a very large number of peaks and can be complicated to interpret even with the use of HRMS. To reduce the complexity, soft ionisation methods without extensive fragmentation can be used. (MALDI) is a soft ionisation method with the great advantages of (1) not needing fully dissolved components (the solutions can be slightly hazy) and (2) mass spectra can be obtained from solid samples without extraction/ dissolution. In the case of MALDI, the sample is mixed with matrix substance

and with the help of laser and matrix substance, molecules are ionized from the dried sample mixture. MALDI produces ions directly from the solid state. In ESI high voltage is applied to liquid flow, creating an aerosol of charged droplets. Solvent from these charged droplets is then evaporated with heated inert gas to form ions. ESI is a good ionisation source for analysing compounds also in the negative mode<sup>100</sup>. As many dye components have acidic groups (-OH groups attached to aromatic systems in many anthraquinones like alizarin, purpurin, as well as carboxylic acid groups in kermesic and flavokermesic acid)<sup>5</sup>, ESI in negative mode was chosen for this work. For very small sample amounts (often the case in cultural heritage), nano-ESI (nESI) approach is preferred with flow-rates as low as 25–50 nl/min.

## **3. EXPERIMENTAL SECTION**

## 3.1. Analysed standard samples

Standard samples in this work are not high-purity chemicals, but rather a collection of daily used textile pieces and textile dye sources. The identity of the fibres was confirmed by comparing the IR spectra of the same materials of different origin against each other. Textile dyes were analysed with several instruments and results were confirmed with available literature to ensure the suitability as a standard.

## Textile fibres

Different textile materials were used for creating the collection of FT-IR spectra of fibres. For this research, 61 single-component textile fibres of 16 different types were used: wool, silk, cotton, linen, jute, sisal, viscose, cellulose acetate (acetate), Tencel<sup>TM</sup> (lyocell), fibreglass, polyester, polyamide, polyacrylic, elastane, polyethylene and polypropylene (see articles I, II and IV). Additionally, 52 two-component fibre mixtures were analysed for article II (Table 1 in article II). Samples were obtained from different companies from Estonia (Kreenholm Manufaktuur OÜ, Estonian National Opera), fabric stores (AS Abakhan Fabrics Estonia) and private collections.

## Textile dyes

The textile dyes and dye sources (Dyer's madder, redwood, logwood, sandalwood, kermes, cochineal, bloodred webcap) were obtained from the Estonian National Museum, Kremer Pigmente GmbH & Co. KG, Aichstetten, Germany and a private collection.

## 3.2. Analysis of textile fibres

## 3.2.1. Analysis with FT-IR spectroscopic techniques

FT-IR spectroscopy was used for articles I, II, IV and V to analyse the composition of textile fibres. For fibre analysis, two different FT-IR instruments were used – ATR-FT-IR spectrometer and FT-IR microspectrometer with ATR and reflectance mode.

## ATR-FT-IR spectrometer

For recording ATR-FT-IR spectra from fibres, Thermo Scientific Nicolet 6700 FT-IR spectrometer with Smart Orbit micro-ATR accessory was used. The instrument has DLaTGS detector, Vectra Aluminium interferometer and sealed and desiccated optical bench with CsI optics. Smart Orbit is a single-bounce diamond crystal ATR accessory with a refractive index of 2.4, active sample area diameter 1.5 mm. Parameters used in measurements were: resolution 4 cm<sup>-1</sup>, spectral range 225-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>, zero filling factor 0, apodization window was

Happ-Genzel. Thermo Electron's OMNIC 9 software was used to collect and process the IR spectra.

For better spectrum quality, the number of scans recorded for each spectrum was 128, except for semi-quantitative analysis in article II, where 32 scans were used. The number of scans was optimised to save time needed for spectra registration. For each sample piece, several spectra were recorded from different parts of the fibre piece. This action was needed to test the homogeneity of the textile piece and to be sure that the sample only consisted of one type of fibre. All in all, the collection of one-component fibres now consists of 10 individual spectra from each analysed textile piece.

For the analysis with ATR-FT-IR spectrometer textile samples do not need any sample preparation. A textile sample was placed on the ATR crystal and pressure was applied. During the measurements of standards textile fibres, different approaches were tested to obtain spectra with the highest quality possible. Better quality spectra were obtained when the textile piece was rather tightly knitted and thicker. For thin cloths, textile pieces were folded, forming multilayer pieces and then spectra were recorded. As most of the new cloth pieces are very durable and strong, quite strong pressure was applied to get more intense spectra. Measurements with real-life samples were carried out in a somewhat different way. As textile fibres degrade with time, they tend to get more brittle, thus experiments with pressing sample onto crystal must be done with extreme care. For real-life samples, if sample ought not to be damaged, only light pressure was applied when recording spectrum.

#### **FT-IR microscpectrometer**

Thermo Scientific Nicolet iN10 MX integrated FT-IR microscope (FT-IR microspectrometer) was used in reflectance (r) and ATR modes. Measurements were done using mercury-cadmium-terruride (MCT) detector cooled with liquid nitrogen, spectral range 550/600-4000 cm<sup>-1</sup>, resolution 4 cm<sup>-1</sup> and 64 number of scans for standard collection (article IV) and 8 scans for homogeneity study (article II). For the analysis in reflectance mode, the sample was placed on the gold plate, which was also used as a background. For the analysis in ATR mode, the sample was placed on the metal plate and the slide-on ATR objective with a conical germanium crystal (Slide-On MicroTip Ge ATR crystal) was used. The micro-ATR tip allows analysing samples as small as 3 microns. As the pressure area in ATR-FT-IR microspectrometer is much smaller than at regular ATR-FT-IR spectrometer, less damage is done with this method on reallife samples. In the reflectance mode measurement area is adjustable: in most cases aperture 150x150 µm was used since it was small enough to analyse small parts of the sample, but large enough for good quality spectra. For smaller sample pieces aperture down to  $25x25 \ \mu m$  was used. The data were collected and processed using Thermo Electron's OMNIC PICTA software.

Similarly, to measurements with ATR-FT-IR spectrometer, from each sample piece, several spectra were recorded in reflectance and micro-ATR (mATR) mode as well. As this FT-IR microspectrometer enables mapping and

also spectrum recording is faster due to MCT detector, more spectra were recorded from each sample. Standard spectra collection now consists of 2068 mATR- and 1662 reflectance-FT-IR spectra.

## 3.2.2. Classification of textile fibres with different chemometric methods

Classification methods for identification of textile fibres were developed with Thermo Scientific TQ Analyst<sup>™</sup> Professional Edition 9.0 and with an in-house written Python script. With TQ Analyst Pro software discriminant analysis was used and random forest classification with the *sklearn* library with Python.

TQ Analyst<sup>TM</sup> Professional is Thermo Scientific software that enables doing qualitative and quantitative analysis for infrared spectra. In this work, only classification methods were used. Experimental sections in articles II and IV describe all the important aspects of developing the discriminant analysis method for identifying textile fibres.

An in-house python script was written for analysing data for article IV. Preliminary method development included random forest, support vector machine and kNN (k-nearest neighbours algorithm) methods. Random forest method was chosen for subsequent classification.

## 3.3. Analysis of textile dyes

Analysis of textile dyes was done with five instrument sets (HPLC with DAD, FLD and MS detection and FT-ICR-MS with MALDI and ESI ion sources). Analysis of dye standards was done using natural dye sources, needing extraction phase. From real-life fibre samples, extraction of dyes was also needed. In the next chapters, all the steps of the analysis are described.

#### 3.3.1. Extraction of dyes from the dye sources

Prior to analysis, dyes were all extracted from dye sources: insects, plants and mushroom. For extraction, an in-house method was developed combining recipes and instructions from literatute<sup>5,36,101,102</sup>. But to avoid contamination only Milli-Q grade water (Milli-Q<sup>®</sup> Advantage A 10, Millipore) and pure ethanol (Keemiakaubad AS, 96,7%) were used. The extraction method was developed to be easy and quick enough so that now and then new solutions can be made for additional analyses. General extraction process included weighing right amount (1 g) of dye source into a beaker, soaking the dye source in Milli-Q water (or 40% ethanol in Milli-Q water) for 16 hours and then heating the solution on the stove to make the extraction more effective (see the example in Figure 4). The exact extraction method is more thoroughly described in the experimental section of article III.



Figure 4. Illustration of the extraction process from cochineal dye source.

## 3.3.2. Extraction of dyes from textile fibres

From used case-study samples (see section 4.3), dyes were extracted with a multi-step method, which was developed by combining different methods available in the literature<sup>22,69,103,104</sup>. Multi-step extraction was chosen because it is known from the literature that different dye components extract better with different solvents. Many dyes can easily be extracted from fibres without hard HCl method<sup>105,106</sup>, while some mordant dyes might need stronger acid to break the fibre-metal-dye complex. Softer extraction methods are needed to use in the beginning, since many dye components might not be durable for stronger acid methods. For example, many flavonoids can decompose due to strong acids and thus lot of information can be lost<sup>106</sup>.

Multi-step exctraction consisted of three steps and in Table 4 workflow for three different red textile fibres is presented (real-life samples from carriage blanket and carpet from Estonian National Museum, results from sample nr 1 in Table 4 are more discussed in article III section 3.3.2 and section 4.3.1 in this thesis). It can be seen that the first mild methanol extraction step is able to dissolve yellow compounds from the first sample. Second sample solution got a very slight pink colour, while the solution from the third sample is with more intense colour. The second, dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO, Sigma Aldrich, 99,9%), step gives quite similar results, adding a stronger colour to the third sample. Harsh HCl (Sigma Aldrich, p.a  $\geq$ 37%) extraction step seems to be suitable to the first and second sample, which solutions gain a rather strong orange colour. The third sample solution, however, does not change much colour, probably meaning that essential dyes were already extracted with the first two steps. **Table 4.** Extraction of red dyes from three different fibres. Fibre nr 1 is from a carriage blanket and fibres 2 and 3 from a carpet (provided by Estonian National Museum).

1 2 3	Weighing textile fibre samples about 0.5–1 mg.
A A A	100 $\mu$ L of 2:1 (v/v) methanol/Milli-Q water and heating for 20 minutes at 60–70 °C.
A R A	Solution from previous step + 100 $\mu$ L of DMSO and heating for 20 minutes at 60–70 °C.
N.D. 22 3.2	100 μL HCl solution (3 M HCl in water/methanol 1:1, v/v) and heating for 20 minutes at 60–70 °C.
AN 22 2.2	Solutions from previous steps were evaporated to dryness under a nitrogen stream and reconstituted in methanol/ water (2:1, v/v) to 60 µL.

## 3.3.3. HPLC-DAD-FLD-MS

For dye analysis, *Agilent Infinity 1290* liquid chromatography with *Agilent 1290 Infinity* diode array detector, *Agilent 1200 Series* fluorescence detector and *Agilent Technologies 6495 Triple Quad* mass spectrometer was used. For chromatographic separation, gradient elution with methanol (B) and 0.1% formic acid in Milli-Q water (A) was used with a *Zorbax RRHD SB-C18* column (2.1 × 50 mm and a particle size of 1.8 µm). The eluent flow was 0.3 mL min<sup>-1</sup>. The utilized gradient was: 0–5 min, 5% B; 5–60 min, 5%–100% B; 60–80 min, 100% B; 80–81 min, 100%–5% B; 81–101 min, 5% B. The MS was used in the negative ion mode with the following ionization source (Agilent Jet Stream)

parameters: nebulizer pressure of 20 psi, drying gas at 14 L min<sup>-1</sup> and 250°C, sheath gas flow at 11 L min<sup>-1</sup> and 350°C, and a capillary voltage of 3500 V.

For chromatographic separation, such a long gradient was chosen to make the method more universal to be used later for all the other dye sources as well. A gradient from 0–60 min is for component separation, 60–101 min to rinse the system, including column, for next injection. As with mass spectrometric detection, it is possible to separate peaks that do not have full chromatographic separation, a gradient was not adjusted in different part for full chromatographic separation. Before injection, extracted dye solutions from natural sources were filtered using 13 mm polytetrafluoroethylene (PTFE) filters with a pore size of 0.45  $\mu$ m (Whatman). The exact amount of the sample injection depended on the dye source and intensity of the component peaks in the DAD absorption, FLD fluorescence emission and mass spectra, but was between 1–10  $\mu$ L.

To get full information with DAD, FLD and MS detectors, from one sample actually multiple injections must be done. The most used system consisted of HPLC-DAD-MS, where detectors were used consecutively. The second system was HPLC-FLD-MS, because used software did not allow using DAD and FLD simultaneously. For FLD analysis, excitation wavelengths were firstly found from components DAD spectra – several absorbances that were the most intense. For better sensitivity in MS, two different regions were used for detection – the first injection covering the m/z area of 100-600 and second injection m/z area of 550-1200.

### 3.3.4. FT-ICR-MS with the MALDI and ESI/ nESI sources

FT-ICR-MS was used for the determination of different red dye components. Used dual FT-ICR-MS was Varian 930 on MALDI-ICR, ESI-ICR on Varian 910 with a 7 Tesla superconducting magnet for the generation and detection of ions. With FT-ICR-MS, two different ionization sources were used – MALDI and ESI.

#### MALDI

For MALDI analysis, 2,5-dihydroxybenzoic acid (DHB) was used as a matrix substance. Dye solutions from natural sources were mixed in Eppendorf tubes with a DHB (3:7, DHB/sample) and internal standards solution for sample analyses. For positive mode, phosphazenium cations and DHB peaks were used for internal standards and for negative mode fluorine-rich sulpho-compounds, both previously tested in our work group<sup>97</sup>. Then, 1  $\mu$ L of each mixture was spotted on the MALDI plate and dried under vacuum. FT-ICR-MS has an intermittent pressure (10–3 mbar) MALDI ion source with a New Wave Orion 50083 Nd:YAG laser (355 nm, 4 mJ energy output, and pulse length of 4–5 ns). Measurements were done both in negative and positive mode in the *m/z* region of 90-1100.

### ESI / nESI

For negative-ion ESI-FT-ICR-MS analyses, dye solutions from natural sources were diluted 10–100 times with an 80:20 methanol:Milli-Q water mixture and internal standards were added to this solution. To increase the pH and facilitate ionization of acidic groups, 5  $\mu$ L of a 25% ammonium hydroxide solution were added to 1 mL of the dilutions. The regular ESI source was used for the preliminary analysis of model samples and standard solutions. Additionally, for historical samples with limited available solution volume, an in-house modified nano-ESI source was used. The ESI needle was cut shorter and the tip was polished and moved closer to the inlet of the MS. This proved to be useful for obtaining better spray and overall ionization efficiency, notably reducing the suppression of analyte signals and being able to use much lower flow-rates, which are needed for very small sample amounts (in the case of historical samples).

All the parameters for both MALDI- and ESI-FT-ICR-MS are more discussed in article III and its supplementary information.

## **4. RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

Before analysing any object – either a historically valuable textile, archaeological finding, forensic evidence or factory item – we need to ask ourselves a sequence of questions: what do we want to know, what information do we need to obtain the knowledge and how can we actually gain the information. In this work, the main focus is on the analysis of cultural heritage objects, and although many of the developed methods can be used for different applications, we establish the structure of our work around historical textiles.

The results section of this thesis concentrates on the last (rightmost) part of Figure 5 – method development for analysing the main components in textiles, fibres and dyes. Method development in this work was done by finding suitable parameters and measurement conditions for each instrument by analysing different standard samples, by that creating the collection of FT-IR spectra for standard fibres<sup>II,IV</sup> and collection of different chromatograms and spectra for textile dyes<sup>III</sup>. For these spectra and chromatograms, extensive data analysis with interpretation was then performed<sup>II-IV</sup>. All the developed methods were applied for different case-study samples<sup>III-V</sup> from museums and private collections in Estonia. In article V, developed ATR-FT-IR method combined with microscopic analysis<sup>II</sup> was used to analyse textiles found near more than 2000 years old Egyptian mummy. Selection of analysed case-study objects are described in the case-study section (4.3). Results for developed methods and their applications are more thoroughly described in the following sections.



Figure 5. Structure of the work when analysing historical or archaeological textile samples. This thesis focuses on the activities denoted by green bacckgound

# 4.1. ATR-FT-IR and reflectance-FT-IR for the analysis of different textile fibres

In this work two analytically different FT-IR sampling techniques (ATR and reflectance), but instrumentally three different approaches - ATR-FT-IR spectrometer (ATR-FT-IR), FT-IR-microspectrometer with ATR (mATR-FT-IR) and reflectance (r-FT-IR) modes - were used and measurement methods were developed. In large scale, ATR-FT-IR spectra recorded with regular ATR-FT-IR spectrometer and ATR-FT-IR microspectrometer are same, but some of the differences still come across due to different optical properties of the ATR crystal (refractive index affect), used detector (wavenumber area, sensitivity) and measured area size (homogeneity of the sample). So, for the best results, all three available approaches were used and compared throughout this research. All approaches combined, from single-component standard textile fibres, thousands of spectra were recorded and in published works, around 4000 of them were used, belonging to 16 different textile fibre classes. Additionally, 316 spectra from 52 multi-component textile pieces were recorded with ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy for qualitative analysis and 175 spectra from 7 different two-component textiles for semi-quantitative analysis. These results are described in article II.

For characterization of materials of textile fibres, FT-IR spectra of standard samples were recorded using different sampling techniques (mATR, ATR, reflectance), processed and interpreted. Chemometric approaches were used for data analysis. To characterize each fibre type, thorough interpretation tables were compiled for each standard's ATR-FT-IR spectrum. From each spectrum, the most characteristic absorbance maxima were found. All these tables are presented in the supplementary information of article II. Besides interpretations of absorbance bands, each FT-IR spectrum acts as a finger-print comparison spectrum, which can be used to identify unknown textile fibres. The collection of spectra of standard fibres is the most useful tool for further analysis. While articles I and II focus on ATR-FT-IR usage, article IV brings extra value with a non-contact, thus totally non-invasive reflectance-FT-IR approach. Similarly to ATR-FT-IR spectra, r-FT-IR spectra of standard fibres can also be used as comparison reference spectra for the identification of unknown textile fibres. But unlike ATR-FT-IR spectra, r-FT-IR spectra at present cannot be interpreted to the same level of detail as ATR-FT-IR spectra, due to lack of reference spectra (r-FT-IR approach is not yet widely used for that kind of samples) and unambiguous measurement technique (diffuse and specular reflectance typically get combined when recording spectra from uneven surfaces).

## 4.1.1. Standard reference spectra of single-component textile fibres

FT-IR spectra of the most common textile fibres, recorded in all used sampling techniques, are presented in Figure 6. Some of the prominent absorbance bands of the fibres in the IR spectra with the interpretation are presented in Table 5. As natural cellulose-based fibres have very similar spectra, only cotton is presented in Figure 6. Spectra of other cellulose-based fibres (linen, jute and sisal) and Tencel<sup>TM</sup> (lyocell), fibreglass, elastane, and polypropylene are shown in the Additional file of article IV. Complications with Tencel<sup>TM</sup>, elastane and polypropylene are discussed later in this section and in article IV.



**Figure 6.** Comparison of r-FT-IR, mATR-FT-IR and ATR-FT-IR spectra of the most common textile fibres. Spectra are normalised and averaged. For FT-IR microspectrometer (r- and mATR-FT-IR) wavenumber region 4000-600 cm<sup>-1</sup> and for ATR-FT-IR spectrometer 4000-225 cm<sup>-1</sup> were used.

Wavenumber (cm <sup>-1</sup> )	Assignments
3500-3000	O-H stretching / N-H stretching
3000-2800	C-H symmetric and asymmetric stretchings
2243	C=N stretching
1790-1710	C=O stretching
1700-1600	amide (-CONH) C=O stretching
1600-1500	C-N-H bending (combined C-N and N-H) and O-H bending in this
	region, aromatic ring C=C stretching
1500-1300	C-H bending and O-H in plane bending
1300-800	C-O, C-O-C, C-O-H, C-N stretchings and aromatic ring C-H
	bending in this region
800-500	O-H, C-O, N-H out-of-plane bendings, C-H bending in this region

Table 5. The most prominent absorbance bands in different analysed fibres spectra.

The ability of r-FT-IR and ATR-FT-IR techniques to identify textile fibres was evaluated by comparison of standard reference spectra (see Fig. 6). As it can be seen, most of the spectra from different textile fibre types have quite unique absorbance pattern, thus making the differentiation of the fibres with FT-IR spectroscopy a very suitable approach. While different ATR crystal materials (germanium in mATR-FT-IR and diamond in ATR-FT-IR) have only a very small influence on the recorded spectra, reflectance-FT-IR spectra are rather different from the corresponding ATR-FT-IR spectra. As it can be seen in Fig. 6 some of the absorbance bands of the fibres in r-FT-IR spectra are broader, wavenumbers shifted towards higher values, and intensity ratios of bands are different from the corresponding ATR-FT-IR spectra. This finding is rather not surprising since the measuring mechanism is very different. In reflectance-FT-IR actually two quite different mechanisms are in operation: specular reflectance and diffuse reflectance (DRIFTS). In general, specular reflectance is only used to analyse samples with a mirror-like surface, while DRIFTS is mostly used to analyse samples with an uneven surface to enhance the diffuse reflectance. In this work, specular reflectance-FT-IR instrument is used, but the recorded spectra do not follow any Kramers-Kronig equations, neither DRIFTS rules, thus most probably the two reflection mechanisms are combined in our spectra. This hypothesis is relevant since the surface of textile pieces is rarely smooth and even. Nevertheless, this reflectance method gives very characteristic spectra on each class of textile fibre, thus making this approach very useful for identification of polymeric fibre materials.

In this work, in some cases, it was found that with reflectance-FT-IR it can be obtained some more characteristic spectra than with ATR-FT-IR. One of the examples is protein-based fibres silk and wool. Chemical composition of both of these fibres is protein. Wool is composed of keratin, while silk consists mostly of fibroin polymer. These compositions are different enough for identification in ATR-FT-IR when quite pure textile fibres are used. With ATR-FT-IR, N-H stretching bands of silk are narrower in the region of 3600-3000 cm<sup>-1</sup> and amides C=O stretching bands ~1626 cm<sup>-1</sup> is shifted compared to wool. Problems with the differentiation of the fibres may occur when analysing partially degraded or very impure textiles. In these cases, additives from the textiles can disguise the fibre absorbances, making the existing fibre absorbance bands wider. In these cases, ATR-FT-IR spectra of wool and silk are getting quite similar, making the correct identification rather complicated. With reflectance-FT-IR, silk spectrum has very distinct split absorbance bands near 1707 and 1680 cm<sup>-1</sup> that can be used for the determination of silk in the unknown textiles.

Another problem that occurred when using ATR-FT-IR, but did not affect reflectance mode, was obtaining good quality FT-IR spectrum from the polyacrylic fibre. Measurements of pure polyacrylic and also mixed fibres containing polyacrylic with ATR-FT-IR tended to give poor-quality spectra compared to any other analysed standard<sup>II</sup>. While maximum absorbances in ATR-FT-IR spectra for other fibres were over 0.25, in many cases over 0.50, the highest absorbance in the case of polyacrylic reached 0.085. Due to very low absorbance, the signal-to-noise ratio for these spectra was also very low. In reflectance mode, low spectral quality was not a concern when analysing polyacrylic fibres. However, in reflectance mode, problems occurred when analysing the elastane standard. In this case, the problem did not seem to be in the fibre itself, but in the form of that specific sample. As elastane is rarely used on its own, but rather as an additive in textiles to make the fabric more elastic, in this work it was possible to analyse only elastane thread. While both ATR-FT-IR and FT-IR-microspectrometer with ATR mode enabled to get adequate spectra, with r-FT-IR method only strongly distorted spectra were obtained, even after reducing the regularly measured area 150x150 µm to 25x25 µm. Spectra and more discussion about this problem can be found in article IV. Concerns with purity and inhomogeneous distribution of fibre components in Tencel and polypropylene standards are also described thoroughly in article IV.

Analysing textile fibres simultaneously with all three approaches, enabled to compare the methods, their flaws and advantages. This helps in deciding which of them to use when analysing case-study samples. While ATR-FT-IR with diamond crystal allows analysing samples in broader measuring range (4000-225 cm<sup>-1</sup>), it is more destructive than mATR-FT-IR, which has a smaller crystal tip. When non-destructivity is critical, then only reflectance mode with a non-invasive approach is suitable. But it has to be kept in mind, that when analysing very small sample pieces, r-FT-IR spectra might be distorted, and unambiguous identification could be impossible. The problem with the extreme similarity of the cellulose-based fibres remains for all the used FT-IR approaches and in this case, microscopic analysis must be included.
# 4.1.2. Development of classification methods to identify single-component textile fibres

Data analysis of the massive volume of ATR-FT-IR, mATR-FT-IR and reflectance-FT-IR spectra needs easier and automatized approaches. In this research, a lot of work was done with chemometric grouping and classification methods. For the visual differentiation of textile classes, graphs of principal component analysis (PCA) were used in three-dimensions (see Figure 7). Besides that, classification methods were developed for identification of casestudy samples. For classification two approaches were used – PCA based discriminant analyse (DA) using Thermo Scientific TQ Analyst Pro software and random forest (RF) using in-house built Python script. In article II only DAbased classification was used. In article IV both DA and Python script based RF method were used for comparison of different chemometric approaches.

In Figure 7, PCA graphs of three different FT-IR data sets are presented – spectra recorded using FT-IR microspectrometer with reflectance (r-FT-IR) and micro-ATR (mATR-FT-IR) modes and ATR-FT-IR spectrometer (ATR-FT-IR). As seen in the previous chapter, r-FT-IR and ATR-FT-IR spectra can be quite different, thus it is not surprising that PCA clustering graphs are also different. The difference in PCA graphs using mATR-FT-IR and ATR-FT-IR spectra can come from (1) the fact that data amounts are very different (612 spectra for ATR-FT-IR and 2022 spectra for mATR-FT-IR) and that consequently the range (spread, scatter) of the spectral features in the two collections of spectra are different, leading to different combinations of initial dimensions into the principal components and (2) possibly from different crystal materials (with different refractive indexes) leading to some differences between spectra of the same material.

Generally, it can be seen that most of the fibre classes are grouped well. Interestingly, the amide-based fibres – silk, wool and polyamide – are clustered in both ATR modes, but are well separated with reflectance mode – better differentiation between amide-based fibres was also done with the interpretation of r-FT-IR spectra (see chapter 4.1.1). This observation means that the ability of differentiation using classification of the different IR sampling modes can occasionally be remarkably different. Problems with distinguishing between cellulose-based fibres (cotton, linen, viscose etc), however, remain and are well visualised in each of these PCA graphs. Classification with more than three principal components have shown better separation of viscose from natural cellulose-based fibres, but differentiation of natural cellulose-based fibres has not been possible with FT-IR spectroscopy. In this case, after placing the sample into the cellulose-based class, optical microscopic analysis is done with the fibre sample. Most of the cellulose-based fibres are distinguished very well with an optical microscope.



Figure 7. PCA graphs of textile fibre FT-IR spectra recorded with FT-IR microspectrometer with reflectance and mATR modes and ATR-FT-IR spectrometer (PCA graphs composed with TQ Analyst software).

As it was shown in the case of clustering, the different fibre classes group apart from each other. Thus, it can be predicted that classification should work well for distinguishing between the fibre classes. The reliability of developed classification methods is best shown with the analysis of actual textile samples. In article IV two case-study objects were examined with both DA and RF classification. In some cases, it was shown that RF did better work assigning more fibres into the correct classes. One example being scarf samples nr 1 and 2 (see article IV Table 2), where DA with mATR-FT-IR suggested for both samples polyacrylic content, however, spectra from neither of the samples contained C=N absorbance near 2242 cm<sup>-1</sup>. Also, for sample nr 5 from the same scarf, only RF with mATR-FT-IR was able to identify the correct class (viscose) for all the recorded spectra.

Clustering of the spectra in this work helped to gather and analyse massive data amounts and visualise the differences and similarities within and between different classes of fibres. Classifications methods developed in this work help to identify unknown fibres in the case of a large number of spectra by automatizing the process.

### 4.2. Multi-instrumental analysis of natural red textile dyes

Chemical composition of textile dyes is very different from textile fibres, thus a completely different set of instruments was used. Besides the broad and complex composition, dyes' concentration in fibre sample is often very low, especially in the case of degraded museum artefacts and archaeological textile findings. For these reasons, many different instrumental approaches were used to gain as much valuable information as needed and possible. Five instrumental setups were used: HPLC-DAD, HPLC-FLD, HPLC-MS, ESI-FT-ICR-MS and MALDI-FT-ICR-MS. Some of these techniques (HPLC-DAD, HPLC-MS) are widely used for the analysis of textile dyes. Nevertheless, for obtaining an applicable method, many parameters and conditions had to be tuned for each instrument and dye. In this work, the method development was done for seven red dye sources, but all the conditions were developed as universal as possible so that this approach could later be applicable to unknown real-life samples and other dye sources as well. For that reason, in HPLC analysis the gradient was chosen longer and in direct-MS wider m/z area (90-1100) was used to be able to identify additional ions besides the known dye components. Besides these wellused detectors mentioned before, also limited-used fluorescence detector was included for HPLC in this work as a novelty. This HPLC-FLD approach proved its usefulness in some specific cases, e.g. for the analysis of logwood and its main component hematein, where MS and DAD detector gave controversial results. Chromatograms and discussion of the data obtained with the logwood standard are found in article III, section 3.1.

Besides widely used HPLC-DAD and HPLC-MS limited-used high-resolution FT-ICR-MS with ESI and MALDI sources was included for the analysis of textile dyes. An advantage of FT-ICR-MS is that besides its ability to identify m/z values very accurately (error down to less than 1 part per million (ppm), routinely below 2 ppm) the technique also has very good resolution, enabling separate ions with very close m/z values. With this approach, it was possible to confirm the presence of dye components and also identify unknown dyes for which physical references were absent. Thanks to nESI-FT-ICR-MS, synthetic dyes from one of the case-studies were detected without using any standard (see section 4.3.1).

Another novel approach for FT-ICR-MS analysis in this work was the usage on in-house made nano-ESI needle which enabled to analyse real-life samples that had very low dye concentrations and very small sample amounts. While with regular ESI needle, interfering fatty acid ions were dominant in spectra, nESI suppressed the ionisation of these components, enabling to see dye components better. For red anthraquinone dyes, negative ESI mode was especially useful, since many of these dyes have acidic groups, helping them to be well ionised in negative mode.

While natural dye's sources typically consist of multiple different dyes and additional components, the concentrations of the components vary a lot and thus not all components have the same importance in the process of identification of the dye source. In Table 6 the most prominent components for each analysed dye source are presented. In this table the components are listed according to their importance in the multi-instrumental analysis – how intensive is the signal, is it detectable with all used methods.

Combination of different components and their relative concentrations/ intensities are essential information to correctly identify the dye source. For example, the presence of only one carminic acid peak in the chromatogram, might not mean that fibre was dyed with cochineal, but can also indicate the usage of synthetic carminic acid dye. But the presence of very small amounts of isomers dc IV and dc VII as well as other components like flavokermesic and kermesic acid, indicates cochineal usage more reliably. Likewise, the presence of flavokermesic and kermesic acid does not automatically mean that the kermes insect was used unless these two components are clearly dominant. For identifying dyer's madder, the ratio of alizarin, purpurin and other components can be important, since there are other similar dyeing plants, e.g northern bedstraw, common in Estonia, with the same components in different proportions.

Detailed information (retention time, Vis absorbance, exact m/z etc) about each component and dye source is presented in article III, Table 1. In the supplementary information of article III, an extended table is given with several other chromatographic peaks that are not fully identified but can still be characteristic to specific dye sources. Bloodred webcap is a less studied dye and that comprehensive instrumental data of the components of dye source is new in this field. Although five different instrumental techniques were tested for standard dyes, not all of them have to be used together for the case-study samples. A multi-instrumental approach is important in method development and component characterisation, but due to very small amount of sample often available in cultural heritage studies and limited resources, only selected techniques are typically used for real-life samples analysis. In Table 7 all the tested methods are compared according to their capability of analysing seven natural red dye sources. Similar table with discussion is presented in article III (Table 2). In this thesis, the table has been supplemented with additional information about the practical aspects of measurements.

The strong point of techniques involving LC is their ability to separate different components, which is very useful when analysing complex systems like extracts from plants and insects. Besides dyes, these mixtures can contain a lot of other compounds like sugars, tannins, oils etc. UV-Vis detector in the visible range (400-640 nm was used in this work) is the first choice for detecting colourful compounds as it enables to conveniently eliminate interfering compounds. In this work, LC-UV-Vis was very helpful in method development in finding colourful components from standard mixtures, but since the sensitivity of this method can be low, this method alone might not be sufficient for case-study samples where concentrations are much lower. Thanks to the possibility to use DAD and MS detectors simultaneously within one run, this combination of LC-DAD-MS is preferred as the first step of the analysis if enough textile sample is present for extraction. LC-DAD part of the approach helps to detect dominant colourful compounds in the solution, while with additional information from MS, it is possible to identify components more reliably. Besides that, since MS detection is much more sensitive, additional dye components that cannot be seen with DAD might be visible in LC-MS chromatogram. In the case of finding unknown colourful compounds with LC-DAD-MS methods, low-resolution MS might still be not enough for component identification, when retention times are not determined with standards. In this case, high-resolution FT-ICR-MS with both ESI and MALDI ionisation are the next important step. Nominal m/z values behind chromatographic peaks can be searched from the HRMS spectrum. With m/z values accurate to  $\pm 2$  ppm (typically meaning 5 digits after comma), the elemental composition of the component can be found with high reliability. In this work, it was found that if enough sample solution was available, nESI-FT-ICR-MS in negative mode tended to give better result in detecting and identifying different dye components. However, in the case of very small amounts of either sample solution or fibre pieces, MALDI is preferred, since this method does not need filtration of the solution and less than 1 µl of sample solution can be used for the analysis.

Dye source	Dyer's Madder	Sandalwood	Cochineal	Kermes	Bloodred webcap	Logwood	Redwood
Components	alizarin	santalin A	carminic acid	kermesic acid	dermorubin	hematein	brazilein
	purpurin	santalin B	dc IV	flavokermesic	5-chlorodermo-	hematoxylin	brazilin
				acid	rubin		
	rubiadin	santarubin A	dc VII	kermesic acid	emodin	hematein	brazilin
				isomer		isomers	isomers
	nordamnacanthal	santal	flavokermesic		dermocybin	hematoxylin	brazilein
			acid			isomers	isomers
	munjistin	(iso)liquiri-	kermesic acid		dermolutein	brazilein	
		tegin					
	lucidin	maackiain			endocrocin		
		pterocarpin			5,7-dichloroemodin		
	xantopurpurin	santalin			7-chloroemodin		
	ruberythric acid				physcion		
	lucidin primeveroside						
	pseudopurpurin						

Table 6. Identified prominent components from seven red dye sources based on the multi-instrumental analysis. Components are listed ac

-	,	-				
Dye source	LC-UV-Vis	LC-FLD	LC-ESI(-)- MS	ESI(-)- HRMS	MALDI(-)- HRMS	MALDI(+)- HRMS
Dyer's madder	++	+	++	+	+	+
Sandalwood	+	+	+	++		+++
Cochineal	+	+	++	++++	+++	++
Kermes	+	+	++	+	+	
Bloodred webcap	+	+	++	++++++		
Logwood	+	++	++	+	+	++
Redwood	+	+	++	++	+	++
Practical aspects of techniques	<pre>* components must be * possible to differentiat</pre>	fully dissolved te between isomers	=	<ul> <li>* can be defin present in of substance)</li> <li>* for precise <i>t</i></li> </ul>	<ul> <li>* possible to analyse ces and dyes directifibre</li> <li>* suitable matrix sult chosen</li> <li>* matrix substance perturn can be dinterfere with the interfere with the interfere with the interdes (even if there and a component ether dyes (even if there and a component ether internal can be done internal can be do</li></ul>	e insoluble substan- tly from the textile ostance must be ceaks in the ominant and analysis xists that is not e is no standard dibrants must be
	* low sensitivity * low characteristicity	* only for certain components	* not all compo	onents ionize v	vell, suitable paramete	ers must be found
<sup><i>a</i></sup> Legend: '+++" Verv use	sful. possibly definitive: "	++" useful if other (	evidence exists:	"+" useful as	supporting evidence: '	'-" not useful. All of

Table 7. Comparison of the general utility of the instrumental techniques in the identification of different dyes.<sup>a</sup> III

• 'n these assessments are based on our perception and refer to the experimental conditions used in this work. As a result of using these different instruments, seven red dyes sources were characterised with a collection of chromatograms and spectra (altogether 113) and 23 dye components were identified at a molecular level and provided with corresponding chromatographic retention time, absorption maxima, in some cases fluorescence emission maxima and high-resolution mass spectra. All that data is presented in article III, Table 1. In supplementary information of III, an extended table is given with several other chromatographic peaks that are not fully identified but can still be characteristic to specific dye sources. The obtained collection of chromatograms and mass spectra are a useful set of reference materials for latter identification of unknown dyes. Comparison of these used techniques proved, that in many cases they complement each other and for case-study sample analysis, a combination of techniques is the best option for reliable identification.

### 4.3. Case-studies

All the previously described developed methods were applied on several casestudy samples from the Estonian National Museum, Conservation and Digitization Centre KANUT and private collections. This chapter presents casestudies that have been described in published articles III–V. The results of all of these case studies are collectively presented in Table 8. First three samples are dye analysis case-studies, but prior to dye analysis, fibre identification was also done. From other samples, only fibre identification was done. Two case-studies (carriage blanket and textile painting, see Table 8), that present the capability of developed methods are discussed more thoroughly below (see chapters 4.3.1 and 4.3.2).

	E		f			
	I ext	ale tibre	U	ye		
Object	Identified	Used methods	Identified	Used	Article	Comments
	IIDres		ayes	methods		
Carpet from Estonian National Museum (19 <sup>th</sup> c.)		ATR-FT-IR		LC-DAD-		Two samples from the same carpet were analysed. Carminic acid and isomers, flavokermesic and kermesic acid were found Unknown components
	Wool	microscopy	Cochineal	MS, nESI- FT-ICR-MS	III	with $m/z$ 503.08308 and 533.09322 (corresponding $C_{23}H_{20}O_{13}$ and $C_{24}H_{22}O_{14}$ , accordingly) were detected.
Carriage blanket from Estonian National Museum (19–20 <sup>th</sup> c.)	Wool	ATR-FT-IR, microscopy	Acid orange 7, acid red $27^{a}$	LC-DAD- MS, nESI- FT-ICR-MS	III	Usage of synthetic dyes was found. More information below in section 4.3.1.
Tapestry from KANUT (18 <sup>th</sup> c.)	Wool	ATR-FT-IR, microscopy	Northern bedstraw	LC-DAD- MS, nESI- FT-ICR-MS	III	Purpurin, alizarin, rubiadin and other anthraquinones were found. Ratio of purpurin and alizarin, indicated rather local northern bedstraw instead of dyer's madder.
Scarf from KANUT (20 <sup>th</sup> c.)	Silk, viscose,	r-FT-IR, ATR- FT-IR,			2 M	Altogether seven sample pieces were analysed.
	cotton, unknown mixture	microscopy, classification	I	I	IV	Four of them were fully identified. I hree unknown fibre mixtures were detected.
Textile painting from a		ATR-FT-IR,				$\Lambda$ erv small samule nieces. Desnite that it
private collection (20 <sup>m</sup> c.)	Silk	microscopy, classification	I	I	N	was possible to detect silk.
Mummy from University of		ATR-FT-IR,				Saviand neuti medt fo lle severin elumos Imevios
Tartu Art Museum (100–	Linen	microscopy,	I	I	>	the fibres were contaminated and degraded.
200 BC.)	1 111	Classification				

Table 8. Analysed case-study samples and their results.<sup>a</sup>

<sup>a</sup> Additional results for article III were found later. See section 4.3.1

#### 4.3.1. Carriage blanket from Estonian National Museum

Carriage blanket (see Figure 8) from the Estonian National Museum was analysed to determine the main red dyes of the blanket. The blanket was catalogued in the museum in 1940, but the date and origin are unknown.

Preliminary results are presented in article III. In this thesis, the workflow of the case-study sample is discussed more thoroughly, and the importance of multi-instrument approach is demonstrated for such samples. During ongoing work with the sample after the publication of article III, additional components were detected and these results are more discussed in this thesis.



**Figure 8.** Pictures of a carriage blanket (photo Estonian National Museum), a spot ("proov 1") where the sample was taken (photo Estonian National Museum) and the final sample for dye analysis.

At first, HPLC-DAD-MS was used (after sample preparation as described in section 3.3.2). With the first part – HPLC-DAD – the most important information gained was that in chromatogram recorded in a visible area (400-640 nm) there was a very intensive peak with retention time 34.7 min (see Figure 9) and wide peak with retention time 66 min (see Figure 9), that was in the first round of analysis unnoticed since it lays in the so-called rinsinging area (see section 3.3.3). UV-Vis spectrum from the first peak revealed that that absorbance maximum was at 490 nm and 510 nm for the second peak, indicating red or close to red colour. Since those peaks did not match with any of the results from our natural red dye standards collection (Table 1 in article III), it was impossible to identify the dye component using only the HPLC-DAD results. Since the retention time is highly dependent on exact parameters and equipment used during measurements, it cannot be compared with literature data, also the UV-Vis spectra of components are usually not very characteristic and can be dependent on used solvents, thus the same applies when comparing with literature.

When observing LC-MS results separately, chromatogram with several different peaks is obtained (see Figure 9), representing unknown dyes but also many other components extracted from the analysed fibre. From this chromato-

gram, components of natural red dye standards with known retention time and m/z can be searched, but identification of unknown dye components not present in the standard collection can be difficult due to abundance of possibilities. Even when dominant peaks are found and the corresponding mass spectra analysed, the nominal m/z behind the peak is not specific enough to tell the structure of the component. Thus, telling which peak belongs to the dye and which peak belongs to the matrix, can be very difficult. However, with collective information from DAD and MS, in this case, it was possible to tell that behind the colourful peak near 34.7 min, dominant m/z is 327. Behind the wide peak near 66 min, there was mass spectra with many m/z values: 279, 268, 457, 313, 321, 581, 597, 550 etc (m/z are listed according to intensities). Although this information narrows down the possibilities, there still can be several different compounds behind these nominal m/z values.



**Figure 9.** Top: LC-ESI(-)-MS chromatogram of the carriage blanket fibre sample extract. Middle: LC-DAD chromatogram of the carriage blanket fibre sample extract. Bottom left: DAD absorbance spectrum of found dye component with  $t_R$ =34.7 min. Bottom right: DAD absorbance spectrum of found dye component with  $t_R$ =66 min.

To solve the problem, the third step of the analysis was using of HRMS for getting the exact m/z values of the components. As in this case we already had dye in solution, nESI-FT-ICR-MS in negative mode was used (Figure 10). With HRMS the exact m/z of 327.04443 was attributed to chemical composition  $C_{16}H_{11}N_2O_4S^-$ . This composition corresponds to the anion of the synthetic azo dye acid orange 7<sup>III</sup>. Another compound that was identified due to exact m/z was azo dye amaranth, also named acid red 27. For this compound six peaks were identified, belonging to different fragments – many of them corresponding to nominal m/z behind wide peak  $t_R=66$  min in LC-DAD-MS analysis (see Figure



9). More thorough interpretation of the nESI-FT-ICR-MS spectrum (Figure 10) is in Table 9.

Figure 10. nES(-)I-FT-ICR-MS spectrum of case-study "carriage blanket" sample.

Measured exact <i>m/z</i>	<i>m/z</i> error (ppm)	Anion formula	Anion	Assigned compound
191.01950	-1.20	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>7</sub> O <sub>7</sub>	$[C_6H_8O_7-H]^-$	Citric acid
205.03512	-1.26	$C_7H_9O_7^-$	$[C_7H_{10}O_7-H]^-$	Homocitric acid
215.03264	-0.72	C <sub>6</sub> H <sub>12</sub> O <sub>6</sub> Cl <sup>-</sup>	$[C_6H_{12}O_6+Cl]^-$	Glucose
253.21747	0.66	$C_{16}H_{29}O_2^{-1}$	[C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>30</sub> O <sub>2</sub> -H] <sup>-</sup>	Palmitoleic acid
255.23295	0.00	C <sub>16</sub> H <sub>31</sub> O <sub>2</sub> <sup>-</sup>	$[C_{16}H_{32}O_2-H]^-$	Palmitic acid
265.14766	-0.93	$C_{12}H_{25}O_4S^-$	$[C_{12}H_{25}NaO_4S-Na]^{-1}$	Lauryl sulfate
267.98306	-0.73	$C_{20}H_{12}N_2O_{10}S_3^{2}$	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-3Na+H]^{2-1}$	Amaranth
301.95596	-0.28	$C_{10}H_6O_7S_2^-$	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-C_{10}H_6N_2NaO_3S-2Na+H]-$	Amaranth
325.18421	-0.23	$C_{18}H_{29}O_3S^-$	$[C_{18}H_{29}NaO_3S-Na]^{-1}$	Dodecylbenze nesulfonate
327.04443	-0.20	$C_{16}H_{11}N_2O_4S^-$	$[C_{16}H_{11}N_2NaO_4S-Na]^{-1}$	Acid orange 7
377.08493	-1.81	$C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}Cl^{-1}$	$[C_{12}H_{22}O_{11}+C1]^{-1}$	Sucrose
410.87163	-0.61	$C_4F_9O_6S_3$	[(CF <sub>3</sub> SO <sub>2</sub> ) <sub>3</sub> CH-H] <sup>-</sup>	Calibrant
477.99091	-0.55	C <sub>20</sub> H <sub>11</sub> N <sub>2</sub> O <sub>7</sub> NaS <sub>2</sub>	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-SO_3Na-Na]^{-1}$	Amaranth
536.97429	0.94	$C_{20}H_{13}N_2O_{10}S_3^-$	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-3Na+2H]^2$	Amaranth
558.95817	4.36	$C_{20}H_{12}N_2O_{10}NaS_3$	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-2Na+H]^{-1}$	Amaranth
579.89900	0.55	$C_8F_{18}NO_4S_2H^-$	$[CF_3(CF_2)_3SO_2]_2NH-H]$	Calibrant
580.93767	6.75	$C_{20}H_{11}N_2O_{10}Na_2S_3$	$[C_{20}H_{11}N_2Na_3O_{10}S_3-Na]^{-1}$	Amaranth

Table 9. Interpretation of nESI(-)-FT-ICR-MS spectrum of case-study "carriage blanket".

With a combination of these three different techniques (LC-DAD, LC-MS, nESI-FT-ICR-MS) and comparison of result with information from literature<sup>107–109</sup>, the presence of dyes acid orange 7 and acid red 27 were confirmed.

# 4.3.2. Textile painting

Small fibre from a textile painting (Figure 11) was provided as a case-study sample from a private collection. The fibre piece was taken from a portrait (Figure 11), reportedly from China and the aim was to confirm if the used material is silk.



Figure 11. Picture of the analysed textile painting (photo by Nele Ambos) and microscopic image of the sample.

In this work two non-invasive methods, optical microscopy and r-FT-IR, and semi-destructive mATR- and ATR-FT-IR were used. At first, observations with optical microscopy revealed that yarn consist of thin shiny fibres. This could indicate the use of silk, but also some man-made fibre e.g viscose. For reliable identification, FT-IR spectroscopic method was applied, starting with noninvasive FT-IR microspectrometer with reflectance mode (r-FT-IR). This thin sample revealed the deficiency of this approach – samples with too thin crosssection are unsuitable for r-FT-IR. Even when the measured area was reduced from 150x150 to 25x25  $\mu$ m, it was impossible to get good quality spectra. The r-FT-IR spectra were distorted and uncharacteristic (Figure 12, third spectrum). As with this specific case, non-invasive analysis methods did not give desired results, the next step would be applying semi-destructive methods, to make as little harm as possible. FT-IR microspectrometer with ATR mode (mATR-FT-IR) with measured area diameter of 3 micrometres and applying weak pressure, leaves only very small, hardly noticeable marks on the fibre but gives plenty of information. Analysis with FT-IR microspectrometer with ATR mode (Figure

12) showed all the characteristic absorbances to amide-based fibres like silk, wool and polyamide. Classification results with both DA and RF and comparison with standard spectra all indicated that the analysed fibre is most likely silk.



**Figure 12.** Comparison of spectra recorded from a textile painting with ATR-FT-IR microspectrometer (mATR-FT-IR), ATR-FT-IR spectrometer (ATR-FT-IR) and FT IR microspectrometer with reflectance mode (r-FT-IR).<sup>IV</sup>

Although in the case of cultural heritage samples, non-invasive r-FT-IR is very useful, this specific case-study showed that such non-invasive methods are not always universally suitable for every sample case and thus is good to have the ability to use several different approaches.

# SUMMARY

The aim of this work was to develop methods to analyse and identify textile fibres and natural red textile dyes in cultural heritage objects. For determination of textile fibers, 16 different fibre types – wool, silk, cotton, linen, jute, sisal, viscose, cellulose acetate (acetate), Tencel<sup>TM</sup> (lyocell), fibreglass, polyester, polyamide, polyacrylic, elastane, polyethylene and polypropylene – were used for the development of analytical methods using FT-IR spectroscopy in ATR and reflectance modes combined with chemometric classification methods. For dye analysis, method development was done using seven natural red dyes (dyer's madder, redwood, logwood, sandalwood, kermes, cochineal, bloodred webcap) and five different instrumental sets (HPLC-DAD, HPLC-FLD, HPLC-MS, MALDI-FT-ICR-MS and ESI-FT-ICR-MS).

For textile fibre analysis it was concluded that both ATR and reflectance techniques in FT-IR spectroscopy can be suitable for identifying textile fibres. While the advantage of the reflectance technique is its non-invasive nature, in some cases, like with very small sample pieces, ATR-FT-IR or even mATR-FT-IR should be preferred. While most of the fibre types are well distinguished with FT-IR spectroscopy, problems remain with cellulose-based fibres (cotton, linen etc), in which case optical microscopy must be used as well. For the identification of unknown textile fibres, classification methods were also developed using discriminant analysis and random forest.

For textile dye analysis, it was found that for reliable identification of dyes, using multiple instruments simultaneously is often the best approach. While HPLC-DAD is a good technique for separating and identifying colourful components, MS detector is much more sensitive and universal. Usage on HRMS (FT-ICR-MS in this work) enables to identify components' chemical compositions with high-accuracy (less than 2 ppm error) m/z measurements, thus identification can be done without using standard compounds.

In this work, a large collection of standard spectra and chromatograms was created, which is a helpful tool for identifying unknown fibres and dyes in casestudy samples. Fibre standard collection consists of more than 4000 FT-IR spectra from 16 different fibre types recorded in ATR, mATR and reflectance mode. Seven natural red dyes are characterised with 113 chromatogram/spectra using five different instrumental sets.

The usefulness of the developed methods was demonstrated by analysing several historical samples from Estonian National Museum, Conservation and Digitization Centre Kanut (Estonia) and private collections.

# REFERENCES

- (1) Müssig, J. Industrial Applications of Natural Fibres: Structure, Properties and Technical Applications; Renewable resources; John Wiley & Sons, Ltd: United Kingdom, 2010.
- (2) Petroviciu, I.; Vanden Berghe, I.; Cretu, I.; Albu, F.; Medvedovici, A. Identification of Natural Dyes in Historical Textiles from Romanian Collections by LC-DAD and LC-MS (Single Stage and Tandem MS). *J. Cult. Herit.* **2012**, *13* (1), 89– 97. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2011.05.004.
- (3) Garside, P.; Wyeth, P. Identification of Cellulosic Fibres by FTIR Spectroscopy Thread and Single Fibre Analysis by Attenuated Total Reflectance. *Stud. Conserv.* 2003, 48 (4), 269–275. https://doi.org/10.1179/sic.2003.48.4.269.
- (4) Sinclair, R. Textiles and Fashion. Materials, Design and Technology.; Woodhead Publishing series in textiles; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Cambridge, UK, 2015.
- (5) Cardon, D. Natural Dyes; Archetype Books: London, 2007.
- (6) Marques, R.; Sousa, M. M.; Oliveira, M. C.; Melo, M. J. Characterization of Weld (Reseda Luteola L.) and Spurge Flax (Daphne Gnidium L.) by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography–Diode Array Detection–Mass Spectrometry in Arraiolos Historical Textiles. J. Chromatogr. A 2009, 1216 (9), 1395–1402. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.chroma.2008.12.083.
- (7) Kissi, N.; Curran, K.; Vlachou-Mogire, C.; Fearn, T.; McCullough, L. Developing a Non-Invasive Tool to Assess the Impact of Oxidation on the Structural Integrity of Historic Wool in Tudor Tapestries. *Herit. Sci.* 2017, 5 (1). https://doi.org/ 10.1186/s40494-017-0162-1.
- (8) Soltzberg, L. J.; Lor, S.; Okey-Igwe, N.; Newman, R. 3D Fluorescence Characterization of Synthetic Organic Dyes. *Am. J. Anal. Chem.* **2012**, *03* (09), 622–631. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajac.2012.39081.
- (9) Bianchi, F.; Riboni, N.; Trolla, V.; Furlan, G.; Avantaggiato, G.; Iacobellis, G.; Careri, M. Differentiation of Aged Fibers by Raman Spectroscopy and Multivariate Data Analysis. *Talanta* 2016, 154, 467–473. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. talanta.2016.04.013.
- (10) Meleiro, P. P.; García-Ruiz, C. Spectroscopic Techniques for the Forensic Analysis of Textile Fibers. *Appl. Spectrosc. Rev.* 2016, 51 (4), 278–301. https://doi.org/10.1080/05704928.2015.1132720.
- (11) Zhou, J.; Yu, L.; Ding, Q.; Wang, R. Textile Fiber Identification Using Near-Infrared Spectroscopy and Pattern Recognition. *Autex Res. J.* 2019, 19 (2), 201– 209. https://doi.org/10.1515/aut-2018-0055.
- (12) Chen, H.; Lin, Z.; Tan, C. Classification of Different Animal Fibers by near Infrared Spectroscopy and Chemometric Models. *Microchem. J.* 2019, 144, 489– 494. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2018.10.011.
- (13) Široká, B.; Široký, J.; Bechtold, T. Application of ATR-FT-IR Single-Fiber Analysis for the Identification of a Foreign Polymer in Textile Matrix. *Int. J. Polym. Anal. Charact.* 2011, *16* (4), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1080/1023666X. 2011.570066.
- (14) Bartošová, A.; Blinová, L.; Sirotiak, M.; Michalíková, A. Usage of FTIR-ATR as Non-Destructive Analysis of Selected Toxic Dyes. *Res. Pap. Fac. Mater. Sci. Technol. Slovak Univ. Technol.* 2017, 25 (40), 103–111. https://doi.org/10.1515/ rput-2017-0012.

- (15) Mirjalili, M.; Nazarpoor, K.; Karimi, L. Eco-Friendly Dyeing of Wool Using Natural Dye from Weld as Co-Partner with Synthetic Dye. J. Clean. Prod. 2011, 19 (9–10), 1045–1051. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2011.02.001.
- (16) Madariaga, J. M. Analytical Chemistry in the Field of Cultural Heritage. *Anal. Methods* **2015**, *7* (12), 4848–4876. https://doi.org/10.1039/C5AY00072F.
- (17) Artioli, G. Scientific Methods and Cultural Heritage: An Introduction to the Application of Materials Science to Archaeometry and Conservation Science; Oxford University Press, 2010.
- (18) Clementi, C.; Nowik, W.; Romani, A.; Cibin, F.; Favaro, G. A Spectrometric and Chromatographic Approach to the Study of Ageing of Madder (Rubia Tinctorum L.) Dyestuff on Wool. *Anal. Chim. Acta* 2007, *596* (1), 46–54. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.aca.2007.05.036.
- (19) Lech, K.; Witkoś, K.; Wileńska, B.; Jarosz, M. Identification of Unknown Colorants in Pre-Columbian Textiles Dyed with American Cochineal (Dactylopius Coccus Costa) Using High-Performance Liquid Chromatography and Tandem Mass Spectrometry. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2015**, 407 (3), 855–867. https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s00216-014-8107-y.
- (20) *Identification of Textile Fibers*, 1st edition.; Houck, M. M., Ed.; Woodhead Publishing: Boca Raton, 2009.
- (21) Hearle, J. W. S.; Morton, W. E. *Physical Properties of Textile Fibres, Fourth Edition*, 4th edition.; Woodhead Publishing: Boca Raton, Fla., 2008.
- (22) Gulmini, M.; Idone, A.; Davit, P.; Moi, M.; Carrillo, M.; Ricci, C.; Bello, F. D.; Borla, M.; Oliva, C.; Greco, C.; Aceto, M. The "Coptic" Textiles of the "Museo Egizio" in Torino (Italy): A Focus on Dyes through a Multi-Technique Approach. *Archaeol. Anthropol. Sci.* 2017, 9 (4), 485–497. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12520-016-0376-2.
- (23) Eichhorn, S.; Hearle, J. W. S.; Jaffe, M.; Kikutani, T. Handbook of Textile Fibre Structure. Volume 2: Natural, Regenerated, Inorganic and Specialist Fibres.; Woodhead Publishing series in textiles; Woodhead Publishing Limited and CRC Press LLC: Cambridge, UK, 2009.
- (24) Murugesh Babu, K. Silk. Processing, Properties and Applications.; Woodhead Publishing series in textiles; Woodhead Publishing Limited: Cambridge, UK, 2013.
- (25) Mahapatra, N. N. *Textile Dyes*; Woodhead Publishing India Pvt. Ltd: Daryaganj, New Delhi, 2016.
- (26) Lech, K.; Wilicka, E.; Witowska-Jarosz, J.; Jarosz, M. Early Synthetic Dyes a Challenge for Tandem Mass Spectrometry: MS/MS of Synthetic Dyes. J. Mass Spectrom. 2013, 48 (2), 141–147. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.3090.
- (27) Hunger, K. Industrial Dyes. Chemistry, Properties, Applications; Wiley-VCH: Weinheim, 2003.
- (28) Karapanagiotis, I.; Chryssoulakis, Y. Investigation of Red Natural Dyes Used in Historical Objects by HPLC-DAD-MS. *Ann. Chim.* **2006**, *96* (1–2), 75–84. https://doi.org/10.1002/adic.200690008.
- (29) Manhita, A.; Ferreira, T.; Candeias, A.; Barrocas Dias, C. Extracting Natural Dyes from Wool—an Evaluation of Extraction Methods. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 400 (5), 1501–1514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-011-4858-x.
- (30) Karapanagiotis, I.; Daniilia, sist.; Tsakalof, A.; Chryssoulakis, Y. Identification of Red Natural Dyes in Post-Byzantine Icons by HPLC. J. Liq. Chromatogr. Relat. Technol. 2005, 28 (5), 739–749. https://doi.org/10.1081/JLC-200048896.

- (31) Strych, S.; Trauner, D. Biomimetic Synthesis of Santalin A,B and Santarubin A,B, the Major Colorants of Red Sandalwood. *Angew. Chem. Int. Ed.* 2013, 52 (36), 9509–9512. https://doi.org/10.1002/anie.201302317.
- (32) Delamare, F.; Guineau, B. Colour: Making and Using Dyes and Pigments; Thames & Hudson Ltd: London, 2000.
- (33) Degano, I.; Ribechini, E.; Modugno, F.; Colombini, M. P. Analytical Methods for the Characterization of Organic Dyes in Artworks and in Historical Textiles. *Appl. Spectrosc. Rev.* **2009**, *44* (5), 363–410. https://doi.org/10.1080/05704920902937876.
- (34) Räisänen, R. Fungal Colorants in Applications Focus on *Cortinarius* Species. *Color. Technol.* **2018**, *135* (1), 22–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/cote.12376.
- (35) Gill, M.; Giménez, A. Pigments of Fungi. Part 11. (+)-Austrocorticin, Austrocorticinic Acid, Austrocorticone, and Related Pigments; the First Naturally Occurring Anthraquinones Derived from a Propionate-Triggered Octaketide. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin 1 1990, No. 4, 1159–1167. https://doi.org/10.1039/P19900001159.
- (36) Järvoja, E. Taimedega Värvimine. Renovatum Anno. 1991, pp 10-13.
- (37) Bergfjord, C.; Holst, B. A Procedure for Identifying Textile Bast Fibres Using Microscopy: Flax, Nettle/Ramie, Hemp and Jute. *Ultramicroscopy* **2010**, *110* (9), 1192–1197. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ultramic.2010.04.014.
- (38) Haugan, E.; Holst, B. Determining the Fibrillar Orientation of Bast Fibres with Polarized Light Microscopy: The Modified Herzog Test (Red Plate Test) Explained. J. Microsc. 2013, 252 (2), 159–168. https://doi.org/10.1111/jmi.12079.
- (39) Lepot, L.; De Wael, K.; Gason, F.; Gilbert, B. Application of Raman Spectroscopy to Forensic Fibre Cases. *Sci. Justice* 2008, 48 (3), 109–117. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.scijus.2007.09.013.
- (40) Zięba-Palus, J.; Wąs-Gubała, J. An Investigation into the Use of Micro-Raman Spectroscopy for the Analysis of Car Paints and Single Textile Fibres. J. Mol. Struct. 2011, 993 (1-3), 127–133. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.molstruc.2010.12.041.
- (41) Infrared and Raman Spectroscopy in Forensic Science, 1 edition.; Chalmers, J. M., Edwards, H. G. M., Hargreaves, M. D., Eds.; Wiley: Oxford, 2012.
- (42) Tokutake, S.; Dozono, T.; Ishizawa, H.; Koyama, S.; Miki, T. Prompt Quantitative Analysis of Fiber Mixtures Based on Infrared Absorption Features. *SICE Annu. Conf. 2010* **2010**, 3430–3432.
- (43) Olaru, A.; Malutan, T.; Ursescu, C. M.; Geba, M.; Stratulat, L. Structural Changes in Hemp Fibers Following Temperature, Humidity and EV or Gamma-Ray Radiation Exposure. *Cellul. Chem. Technol.* **2016**, *50* (1), 31–39.
- (44) Sheikh, J.; Bramhecha, I. Multifunctional Modification of Linen Fabric Using Chitosan-Based Formulations. *Int. J. Biol. Macromol.* **2018**, *118*, 896–902. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ijbiomac.2018.06.150.
- (45) Broda, J.; Slusarczyk, C.; Fabia, J.; Demsar, A. Formation and Properties of Polypropylene/Stearic Acid Composite Fibers. *Text. Res. J.* 2016, *86* (1), 64–71. https://doi.org/10.1177/0040517514566104.
- (46) Derrick, M. R.; Stulik, D.; Landry, J. M. *Infrared Spectroscopy in Conservation Science*; Scientific tools for conservation; Getty Conservation Institute: Los Angeles, 1999.
- (47) Liu, Y.; Thibodeaux, D.; Gamble, G. Development of Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy in Direct, Non-Destructive, and Rapid Determination of Cotton Fiber Maturity. *Text. Res. J.* 2011, *81* (15), 1559–1567. https://doi.org/10.1177/ 0040517511410107.

- (48) Margariti, C. The Application of FTIR Microspectroscopy in a Non-Invasive and Non-Destructive Way to the Study and Conservation of Mineralised Excavated Textiles. *Herit. Sci.* **2019**, 7 (1), 63. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40494-019-0304-8.
- (49) Hughes, J. C.; Wheals, B. B.; Whitehouse, M. J. Pyrolysis-Mass Spectrometry of Textile Fibres. *The Analyst* 1978, 103 (1226), 482. https://doi.org/10.1039/ an9780300482.
- (50) Kristensen, R.; Coulson, S.; Gordon, A. THM PyGC–MS of Wood Fragment and Vegetable Fibre Forensic Samples. *J. Anal. Appl. Pyrolysis* **2009**, *86* (1), 90–98. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaap.2009.04.009.
- (51) Smith, B. C. Fundamentals of Fourier Transform Infrared Spectroscopy, Second edition.; CRC Press, 2011. https://doi.org/10.1201/b10777.
- (52) Griffiths, P. R.; de Haseth, J. A. *Fourier Transform Infrared Spectrometry*, 2nd ed.; John Wiley & Sons: Hoboken, N.J, 2007.
- (53) Glassford, S. E.; Byrne, B.; Kazarian, S. G. Recent Applications of ATR FTIR Spectroscopy and Imaging to Proteins. *Biochim. Biophys. Acta BBA – Proteins Proteomics* 2013, 1834 (12), 2849–2858. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbapap.2013. 07.015.
- (54) Amma, S.; Luo, J.; Pantano, C. G.; Kim, S. H. Specular Reflectance (SR) and Attenuated Total Reflectance (ATR) Infrared (IR) Spectroscopy of Transparent Flat Glass Surfaces: A Case Study for Soda Lime Float Glass. J. Non-Cryst. Solids 2015, 428, 189–196. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jnoncrysol.2015.08.015.
- (55) Arrizabalaga, I.; Gómez-Laserna, O.; Aramendia, J.; Arana, G.; Madariaga, J. M. Applicability of a Diffuse Reflectance Infrared Fourier Transform Handheld Spectrometer to Perform in Situ Analyses on Cultural Heritage Materials. *Spectrochim. Acta. A. Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc.* 2014, 129, 259–267. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.saa.2014.03.096.
- (56) Manfredi, M.; Barberis, E.; Rava, A.; Robotti, E.; Gosetti, F.; Marengo, E. Portable Diffuse Reflectance Infrared Fourier Transform (DRIFT) Technique for the Non-Invasive Identification of Canvas Ground: IR Spectra Reference Collection. *Anal. Methods* 2015, 7 (6), 2313–2322. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C4AY02006E.
- (57) Miliani, C.; Rosi, F.; Daveri, A.; Brunetti, B. G. Reflection Infrared Spectroscopy for the Non-Invasive in Situ Study of Artists' Pigments. *Appl. Phys. A* 2012, *106* (2), 295–307. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00339-011-6708-2.
- (58) Vetter, W.; Latini, I.; Schreiner, M. Azurite in Medieval Illuminated Manuscripts: A Reflection-FTIR Study Concerning the Characterization of Binding Media. *Herit. Sci.* **2019**, 7 (1), 21. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40494-019-0262-1.
- (59) Niessen, W. M. A. *Liquid Chromatography-Mass Spectrometry*, 3rd ed.; Chromatographic science series; CRC/Taylor & Francis: Boca Raton, 2006.
- (60) Wouters, J.; Verhecken, A. The Coccid Insect Dyes: HPLC and Computerized Diode-Array Analysis of Dyed Yarns. *Stud. Conserv.* 1989, 34 (4), 189–200. https://doi.org/10.2307/1506286.
- (61) Balakina, G.; Vasiliev, V.; Karpova, E.; Mamatyuk, V. HPLC and Molecular Spectroscopic Investigations of the Red Dye Obtained from an Ancient Pazyryk Textile. *Dyes Pigments* 2006, 71 (1), 54–60. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.dyepig. 2005.06.014.
- (62) Orska-Gawryś, J.; Surowiec, I.; Kehl, J.; Rejniak, H.; Urbaniak-Walczak, K.; Trojanowicz, M. Identification of Natural Dyes in Archeological Coptic Textiles

by Liquid Chromatography with Diode Array Detection. J. Chromatogr. A 2003, 989 (2), 239–248. https://doi.org/0.1016/s0021-9673(03)00083-9.

- (63) Surowiec, I.; Nowik, W.; Trojanowicz, M. Identification of "Insoluble" Red Dyewoods by High Performance Liquid Chromatography-Photodiode Array Detection (HPLC-PDA) Fingerprinting. J. Sep. Sci. 2004, 27 (3), 209–216. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jssc.200301612.
- (64) Novotná, P.; Pacáková, V.; Bosáková, Z.; Štulík, K. High-Performance Liquid Chromatographic Determination of Some Anthraquinone and Naphthoquinone Dyes Occurring in Historical Textiles. J. Chromatogr. A 1999, 863 (2), 235–241. https://doi.org/10.1016/s0021-9673(99)00980-2.
- (65) Lech, K.; Jarosz, M. Novel Methodology for the Extraction and Identification of Natural Dyestuffs in Historical Textiles by HPLC–UV–Vis–ESI MS. Case Study: Chasubles from the Wawel Cathedral Collection. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 399 (9), 3241–3251. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-010-4591-x.
- (66) Serrano, A.; van Bommel, M.; Hallett, J. Evaluation between Ultrahigh Pressure Liquid Chromatography and High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Analytical Methods for Characterizing Natural Dyestuffs. J. Chromatogr. A 2013, 1318, 102–111. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2013.09.062.
- (67) McMaster, M. C. *HPLC, a Practical User's Guide*, 2nd ed.; Wiley-Interscience: Hoboken, N.J, 2007.
- (68) Surowiec, I.; Orska-Gawryś, J.; Biesaga, M.; Trojanowicz, M.; Hutta, M.; Halko, R.; Urbaniak-Walczak, K. Identification of Natural Dyestuff in Archeological Coptic Textiles by HPLC with Fluorescence Detection. *Anal. Lett.* **2003**, *36* (6), 1211–1229. https://doi.org/10.1081/AL-120020154.
- (69) Mantzouris, D.; Karapanagiotis, I.; Valianou, L.; Panayiotou, C. HPLC–DAD–MS Analysis of Dyes Identified in Textiles from Mount Athos. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 399 (9), 3065–3079. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-011-4665-4.
- (70) Puchalska, M.; Polec-Pawlak, K.; Zadrozna, I.; Hryszko, H.; Jarosz, M. Identification of Indigoid Dyes in Natural Organic Pigments Used in Historical Art Objects by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Coupled to Electrospray Ionization Mass Spectrometry. J. Mass Spectrom. 2004, 39 (12), 1441–1449. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.728.
- (71) Lech, K.; Jarosz, M. Identification of Polish Cochineal (Porphyrophora Polonica L.) in Historical Textiles by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography Coupled with Spectrophotometric and Tandem Mass Spectrometric Detection. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2016, 408 (12), 3349–3358. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-016-9408-0.
- (72) Petroviciu, I.; Albu, F.; Cretu, I.; Virgolici, M.; Medvedovici, A. Investigation of Natural Dyes in 15th c. Documents Seal Threads from the Romanian Academy Library, by LC-DAD-MS (Triple Quadrupole). J. Cult. Herit. 2017, 28, 164–171. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2017.05.015.
- (73) Rosenberg, E. Characterisation of Historical Organic Dyestuffs by Liquid Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* **2008**, *391* (1), 33–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-008-1977-0.
- (74) Poulin, J. A New Methodology for the Characterisation of Natural Dyes on Museum Objects Using Gas Chromatography–Mass Spectrometry. *Stud. Conserv.* 2018, 63 (1), 36–61. https://doi.org/10.1080/00393630.2016.1271097.

- (75) Colombini, M. P.; Andreotti, A.; Baraldi, C.; Degano, I.; Łucejko, J. J. Colour Fading in Textiles: A Model Study on the Decomposition of Natural Dyes. *Microchem. J.* 2007, 85 (1), 174–182. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.microc.2006. 04.002.
- (76) Heftmann, E. *Chromatography 6th Edition*; Journal of Chromatography Library; Elsevier, 2004; Vol. 69A.
- (77) Casas-Catalán, M. J.; Doménech-Carbó, M. T. Identification of Natural Dyes Used in Works of Art by Pyrolysis–Gas Chromatography/Mass Spectrometry Combined with in Situ Trimethylsilylation. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2005, 382 (2), 259–268. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-005-3064-0.
- (78) Degani, L.; Riedo, C.; Gulmini, M.; Chiantore, O. From Plant Extracts to Historical Textiles: Characterization of Dyestuffs by GC–MS. *Chromatographia* 2014, 77 (23–24), 1683–1696. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10337-014-2772-z.
- (79) Kramell, A. E.; García-Altares, M.; Pötsch, M.; Kluge, R.; Rother, A.; Hause, G.; Hertweck, C.; Csuk, R. Mapping Natural Dyes in Archeological Textiles by Imaging Mass Spectrometry. *Sci. Rep.* **2019**, *9* (1), 2331. https://doi.org/10.1038/ s41598-019-38706-4.
- (80) Selvius DeRoo, C.; Armitage, R. A. Direct Identification of Dyes in Textiles by Direct Analysis in Real Time-Time of Flight Mass Spectrometry. *Anal. Chem.* 2011, 83 (18), 6924–6928. https://doi.org/10.1021/ac201747s.
- (81) Kramell, A. E.; Brachmann, A. O.; Kluge, R.; Piel, J.; Csuk, R. Fast Direct Detection of Natural Dyes in Historic and Prehistoric Textiles by Flowprobe<sup>TM</sup>-ESI-HRMS. *RSC Adv* 2017, 7 (21), 12990–12997. https://doi.org/10.1039/ C6RA27842F.
- (82) Leona, M.; Stenger, J.; Ferloni, E. Application of Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering Techniques to the Ultrasensitive Identification of Natural Dyes in Works of Art. J. Raman Spectrosc. 2006, 37 (10), 981–992. https://doi.org/10. 1002/jrs.1582.
- (83) Chen, K.; Leona, M.; Vo-Dinh, K.-C.; Yan, F.; Wabuyele, M. B.; Vo-Dinh, T. Application of Surface-Enhanced Raman Scattering (SERS) for the Identification of Anthraquinone Dyes Used in Works of Art. J. Raman Spectrosc. 2006, 37 (4), 520–527. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrs.1426.
- (84) Jurasekova, Z.; del Puerto, E.; Bruno, G.; García-Ramos, J. V.; Sanchez-Cortes, S.; Domingo, C. Extractionless Non-Hydrolysis Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopic Detection of Historical Mordant Dyes on Textile Fibers. J. Raman Spectrosc. 2010, 41 (11), 1455–1461. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrs.2651.
- (85) Casadio, F.; Leona, M.; Lombardi, J. R.; Van Duyne, R. Identification of Organic Colorants in Fibers, Paints, and Glazes by Surface Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy. *Acc. Chem. Res.* 2010, *43* (6), 782–791. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar100019q.
- (86) Bruni, S.; Guglielmi, V.; Pozzi, F. Surface-Enhanced Raman Spectroscopy (SERS) on Silver Colloids for the Identification of Ancient Textile Dyes: Tyrian Purple and Madder. J. Raman Spectrosc. 2010, 175–180. https://doi.org/10.1002/jrs.2456.
- (87) Platania, E.; Lofrumento, C.; Lottini, E.; Azzaro, E.; Ricci, M.; Becucci, M. Tailored Micro-Extraction Method for Raman/SERS Detection of Indigoids in Ancient Textiles. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2015, 407 (21), 6505–6514. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-015-8816-x.

- (88) Gulmini, M.; Idone, A.; Diana, E.; Gastaldi, D.; Vaudan, D.; Aceto, M. Identification of Dyestuffs in Historical Textiles: Strong and Weak Points of a Non-Invasive Approach. *Dyes Pigments* **2013**, *98* (1), 136–145. https://doi.org/ 10.1016/j.dyepig.2013.02.010.
- (89) Maynez-Rojas, M. A.; Casanova-González, E.; Ruvalcaba-Sil, J. L. Identification of Natural Red and Purple Dyes on Textiles by Fiber-Optics Reflectance Spectroscopy. *Spectrochim. Acta. A. Mol. Biomol. Spectrosc.* 2017, *178*, 239–250. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.saa.2017.02.019.
- (90) van Bommel, M. R.; Berghe, I. V.; Wallert, A. M.; Boitelle, R.; Wouters, J. High-Performance Liquid Chromatography and Non-Destructive Three-Dimensional Fluorescence Analysis of Early Synthetic Dyes. J. Chromatogr. A 2007, 1157 (1–2), 260–272. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.chroma.2007.05.017.
- (91) Claro, A.; Melo, M. J.; Seixas de Melo, J. S.; van den Berg, K. J.; Burnstock, A.; Montague, M.; Newman, R. Identification of Red Colorants in van Gogh Paintings and Ancient Andean Textiles by Microspectrofluorimetry. J. Cult. Herit. 2010, 11 (1), 27–34. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.culher.2009.03.006.
- (92) Morales, K. M.; Berrie, Barbara H. A Note on Characterization of the Cochineal Dyestuff on Wool Using Microspectrophotometry. *E-Preserv. Sci* **2015**, *12*, 8–14.
- (93) Romani, A.; Clementi, C.; Miliani, C.; Favaro, G. Fluorescence Spectroscopy: A Powerful Technique for the Noninvasive Characterization of Artwork. Acc. Chem. Res. 2010, 43 (6), 837–846. https://doi.org/10.1021/ar900291y.
- (94) Nakamura, R.; Tanaka, Y.; Ogata, A.; Masakazu, N. Scientific Evidence by Fluorescence Spectrometry for Safflower Red on Ancient Japanese Textiles Stored in the Shosoin Treasure House Repository. *Stud. Conserv.* 2014, *59* (6), 367–376. https://doi.org/10.1179/2047058413Y.0000000082.
- (95) Wouters, J. High Performance Liquid Chromatography of Anthraquinones: Analysis of Plant and Insect Extracts and Dyed Textiles. *Stud. Conserv.* 1985, 30 (3), 119–128. https://doi.org/10.1179/sic.1985.30.3.119.
- (96) Serafini, I.; Lombardi, L.; Vannutelli, G.; Montesano, C.; Sciubba, F.; Guiso, M.; Curini, R.; Bianco, A. How the Extraction Method Could Be Crucial in the Characterization of Natural Dyes from Dyed Yarns and Lake Pigments: The Case of American and Armenian Cochineal Dyes, Extracted through the New Ammonia-EDTA Method. *Microchem. J.* 2017, *134*, 237–245. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.microc.2017.06.005.
- (97) Teearu, A.; Vahur, S.; Rodima, T.; Herodes, K.; Bonrath, W.; Netscher, T.; Tshepelevitsh, S.; Trummal, A.; Lõkov, M.; Leito, I. Method Development for the Analysis of Resinous Materials with MALDI-FT-ICR-MS: Novel Internal Standards and a New Matrix Material for Negative Ion Mode: Method Development for the Analysis of Resinous Materials with MALDI-FT-ICR-MS. J. Mass Spectrom. 2017, 52 (9), 603–617. https://doi.org/10.1002/jms.3943.
- (98) Hoffmann, E. de; Stroobant, V. *Mass Spectrometry: Principles and Applications*, 3 edition.; Wiley-Interscience: Chichester, West Sussex, England; Hoboken, NJ, 2007.
- (99) El-Aneed, A.; Cohen, A.; Banoub, J. Mass Spectrometry, Review of the Basics: Electrospray, MALDI, and Commonly Used Mass Analyzers. *Appl. Spectrosc. Rev.* 2009, 44 (3), 210–230. https://doi.org/10.1080/05704920902717872.

- (100) Liigand, P.; Kaupmees, K.; Haav, K.; Liigand, J.; Leito, I.; Girod, M.; Antoine, R.; Kruve, A. Think Negative: Finding the Best Electrospray Ionization/MS Mode for Your Analyte. *Anal. Chem.* 2017, 89 (11), 5665–5668. https://doi.org/10.1021/acs.analchem.7b00096.
- (101) Dyeing with Safflower Reconstructing History https://www.reconstructinghistory.com/articles/japanese-articles/dyeing-withsafflower.html (accessed May 11, 2016).
- (102) Natural Red Dyes dyeing http://www.wildcolours.co.uk/html/red\_dyes.html (accessed Apr 28, 2020).
- (103) Mantzouris, D.; Karapanagiotis, I.; Karydis, C. Identification of Cochineal and Other Dyes in Byzantine Textiles of the 14th Century from Mount Athos. *Mediterr. Archaeol. Archaeom.* 2016, 16 (2), 159–165. https://doi.org/doi:10. 5281/zenodo.53074.
- (104) Serrano, A.; Sousa, M. M.; Hallett, J.; Lopes, J. A.; Oliveira, M. C. Analysis of Natural Red Dyes (Cochineal) in Textiles of Historical Importance Using HPLC and Multivariate Data Analysis. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2011, 401 (2), 735–743. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-011-5094-0.
- (105) Valianou, L.; Karapanagiotis, I.; Chryssoulakis, Y. Comparison of Extraction Methods for the Analysis of Natural Dyes in Historical Textiles by High-Performance Liquid Chromatography. *Anal. Bioanal. Chem.* 2009, 395 (7), 2175–2189. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00216-009-3137-6.
- (106) Zhang, X.; Laursen, R. A. Development of Mild Extraction Methods for the Analysis of Natural Dyes in Textiles of Historical Interest Using LC-Diode Array Detector-MS. *Anal. Chem.* 2005, 77 (7), 2022–2025. https://doi.org/10. 1021/ac048380k.
- (107) Zhang, S.-J.; Yu, H.-Q.; Li, Q.-R. Radiolytic Degradation of Acid Orange 7: A Mechanistic Study. *Chemosphere* 2005, 61 (7), 1003–1011. https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.chemosphere.2005.03.008.
- (108) Esmaielzadeh Kandjani, A.; Farzalipour Tabriz, M.; Arefian, N. A.; Vaezi, M. R.; Halek, F.; Sadrnezhaad, S. K. Photocatalytic Decoloration of Acid Red 27 in Presence of SnO2 Nanoparticles. *Water Sci. Technol.* 2010, 62 (6), 1256–1264. https://doi.org/10.2166/wst.2010.156.
- (109) Soltzberg, L. J.; Hagar, A.; Kridaratikorn, S.; Mattson, A.; Newman, R. MALDI-TOF Mass Spectrometric Identification of Dyes and Pigments. J. Am. Soc. Mass Spectrom. 2007, 18 (11), 2001–2006. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jasms.2007. 08.008.

# SUMMARY IN ESTONIAN

# Instrumentaalmeetodite väljatöötamine tekstiilimaterjalide ja -värvainete analüüsimiseks

Käesoleva doktoritöö eesmärgiks oli välja töötada meetodid tekstiilikiudude ja looduslike tekstiilivärvainete analüüsimiseks kultuuriväärtuslikest objektidest. Tekstiilikiudude materjali identifitseerimiseks, kasutades 16 kiuklassi – vill, siid, puuvill, lina, džuut, sisal, viskoos, tselluloosatsetaat (atsetaat), Tencel<sup>™</sup> (lyocell), klaaskiud, polüester, polüamiid, polüakrüül, elastaan, polüetüleen ja polüpropüleen – töötati välja analüütiline meetod FT-IR spektroskoopia koos ATR- ja peegeldustehnikate jaoks. Värvainete analüüsimiseks töötati välja meetodid kasutades selleks seitset looduslikku punast värvaineallikat (punavärvik, siiltsesalpiiniapuu, kampetše veripuu, sandlipuu, kermes, košinell, verev vöödik) ja viit erinevat instrumenti (HPLC-DAD, HPLC-FLD, HPLC-MS, MALDI-FT-ICR-MS ja ESI-FT-ICR-MS).

Tekstiilikiudude analüüsil leiti, et nii ATR kui ka peegeldustehnika sobivad kiudude identifitseerimiseks. Kuigi peegeldustehnikal on suur eelis olles mitte-kontaktne, seega mitte-destruktiivne meetod, on väga väikese läbimõõduga proovide korral eelistatud ATR-FT-IR mikrospektromeeter või ATR-FT-IR spektromeeter. Kuigi enamik kiuklassidest on FT-IR spektroopilisel meetodil hästi üksteisest eristatavad, on tselluloosipõhiste kiudude (puuvill, lina, viskoos jne) eristamine siiani raskendatud ning sel juhul tuleb abimeetodina kasutada optilist mikroskoopi. Tundmatute kiuproovide tuvastamiseks töötati välja ka klassifitseerimismeetodid kasutades diskriminantanalüüsi ja otsustusmetsa (*Random Forest*) algoritmi.

Värvainete analüüsi jaoks leiti, et tihti on usaldusväärse tulemuse saamiseks kõige parem kasutada erinevaid analüüsimeetodeid koos. Kuigi HPLC-DAD on sobiv meetod värviliste ühendite eraldamiseks ja tuvastamiseks, on MS detektor palju tundlikum ja universaalsem. Kõrglahutusega MS (selles töös FT-ICR-MS) võimaldab tuvastada komponentide elementset koostist tänu m/z määramise väga kõrgele täpsusele (alla 2 ppm veaga) ning seetõttu on ainete identifitsee-rimine enamasti võimalik ka ilma standardeid kasutamata.

Käesolevas töös koostati suur standardspektrite ja -kromatogrammide kogum, mis on kasulik tundmatute tekstiilikiudude ja värvainete tuvastamisel reaalsetest proovidest. Tekstiilikiudude kogumis on 16 erineva kiuklassi FT-IR spektrid mõõdetud peegeldus-, ATR ja mATR mõõtmismeetoditel. Seitse punast värvainet on karakteriseeritud 113 kromatogrammi/spektriga, mis on mõõdetud viie erineva instrumendiga.

Käesolevas töös väljatöötatud meetodite kasulikkust on demonstreeritud mitmete reaalsete proovide analüüsimisel, mis on saadud Eesti Rahva Muuseumist, Eesti Vabaõhumuuseumi Konserveerimis- ja digiteerimiskeskusest Kanut ja erakogudest.

# ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Firstly, I would like to thank my supervisors professor Ivo Leito and research fellow Signe Vahur for their guidance and support throughout all these years. Also, I would like to especially thank Koit Herodes, Anneli Kruve and Tõiv Haljasorg for their help and support with measurements and Karl Kaupmees for his help in writing and data analysis. My gratitude also goes to my co-authors Todd Pagano and Jaan Pelt. I am very grateful to Ester Oras for allowing me to take part in this amazing opportunity to work in the mummy project. The collection of standards and case-studies has been possible with the help from Kreenholm Manufaktuur OÜ, Estonian National Opera, Estonian National Museum, AS Abakhan Fabrics Estonia and Conservation and Digitization Centre Kanut (Estonia).

I would also like to thank all my friends and family for supporting me throughout these years and the amazing people in our analytical chemistry group who were always ready to give great advice when needed. My most special thanks go to Mikk Tooming and Eliise Tammekivi for keeping me sane whenever I felt too overwhelmed and ready to quit.

This work has been supported by the Personal Research Funding PUT1521 from the Estonian Research Council and by the EU through the European Regional Development Fund (TK141 "Advanced materials and high-technology devices for energy recuperation systems") as well as the graduate school "Functional materials and technologies", receiving funding from the European Social Fund under Project 1.2.0401.09-0079 in Estonia. This work was carried out using the instrumentation of the Estonian Center of Analytical Chemistry (http://www.akki.ee).

PUBLICATIONS

# CURRICULUM VITAE

Name:	Pilleriin Peets
Date of birth:	June 16, 1992, Jõgeva, Estonia
Citizenship:	Estonia
Contact:	Institute of Chemistry, University of Tartu, Ravila 14a, Tartu,
	50411, Estonia
E-mail:	pilleriin.peets@ut.ee

### **Education:**

2016–	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, PhD student
2014–2016	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, M.Sc. (Chemistry)
2011–2014	University of Tartu, Institute of Chemistry, B.Sc. (Chemistry)

### **Professional employment:**

09.2015 – Analyst, internal auditor. Estonian Environmental Research Centre

### **Scientific publications:**

- Vahur, S.; Teearu, A.; Peets, P.; Joosu, L.; Leito, I. ATR-FT-IR spectral collection of conservation materials in the extended region of 4000-80 cm<sup>-1</sup>. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **2016**, 408, 13, 3373–3379. DOI: 10.1007/s00216-016-9411-5
- Peets, P.; Leito, I.; Pelt, J.; Vahur, S. Identification and classification of textile fibres using ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy with chemometric methods. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 2017, 173, 175–181. DOI: 10.1016/j.saa.2016.09.007
- Peets, P.; Vahur, S.; Kruve, A.; Haljasorg, T.; Herodes, K.; Pagano, T.; Leito, I. Instrumental techniques in the analysis of natural red textile dyes. *Journal of Cultural Heritage*, 2020, 42, 19–27. DOI: 10.1016/j.culher. 2019.09.002
- Peets, P.; Kaupmees, K.; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Reflectance FT-IR spectroscopy as a viable option for textile fiber identification. *Heritage Science*, 2019, 7,93. DOI: 10.1186/s40494-019-0337-z
- Oras, E.; Anderson, J.; Tõrv, M.; Vahur, S.; Rammo, R.; Remmer, S.; Mölder, M.; Malve, M.; Saag, L.; Saage, R.; Teearu-Ojakäär, A.; Peets, P.; Tambets, K.; Metspalu, M.; Lees, D.C.; Barclay, M.V.L.; Hall, M.J.R.; Ikram, S.; Piombino-Mascali, D. Multidisciplinary investigation of two Egyptian child mummies curated at the University of Tartu Art Museum, Estonia (Late/Graeco-Roman Periods). *PLOS ONE*, **2020**. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227446

# ELULOOKIRJELDUS

Nimi:	Pilleriin Peets
Sünniaeg:	16. juuni 1992, Jõgeva, Eesti
Kodakondsus:	Eesti
Kontakt:	Tartu Ülikool keemia instituut, Ravila 14a, Tartu, 50411, Eesti
E-post:	pilleriin.peets@ut.ee

### Haridus:

2016–	Tartu Ülikool, keemia eriala doktoriõpe
2014–2016	Tartu Ülikool, Keemia instituut, magistriõpe (keemia)
2011–2014	Tartu Ülikool, Keemia instituut, bakalaureuseõpe (keemia)

### Töökogemus:

09.2015– Eesti Keskkonnauuringute Keskus, analüütik, siseaudiitor

### Teaduspublikatsioonid:

- Vahur, S.; Teearu, A.; Peets, P.; Joosu, L.; Leito, I. ATR-FT-IR spectral collection of conservation materials in the extended region of 4000-80 cm<sup>-1</sup>. *Analytical and Bioanalytical Chemistry*, **2016**, 408, 13, 3373–3379. DOI: 10.1007/s00216-016-9411-5
- Peets, P.; Leito, I.; Pelt, J.; Vahur, S. Identification and classification of textile fibres using ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy with chemometric methods. *Spectrochimica Acta Part A: Molecular and Biomolecular Spectroscopy*, 2017, 173, 175–181. DOI: 10.1016/j.saa.2016.09.007
- 3. Peets, P.; Vahur, S.; Kruve, A.; Haljasorg, T.; Herodes, K.; Pagano, T.; Leito, I. Instrumental techniques in the analysis of natural red textile dyes. *Journal of Cultural Heritage*, **2020**, 42, 19–27. DOI: 10.1016/j.culher. 2019.09.002
- Peets, P.; Kaupmees, K.; Vahur, S.; Leito, I. Reflectance FT-IR spectroscopy as a viable option for textile fiber identification. *Heritage Science*, 2019, 7,93. DOI: 10.1186/s40494-019-0337-z
- Oras, E.; Anderson, J.; Tõrv, M.; Vahur, S.; Rammo, R.; Remmer, S.; Mölder, M.; Malve, M.; Saag, L.; Saage, R.; Teearu-Ojakäär, A.; Peets, P.; Tambets, K.; Metspalu, M.; Lees, D.C.; Barclay, M.V.L.; Hall, M.J.R.; Ikram, S.; Piombino-Mascali, D. Multidisciplinary investigation of two Egyptian child mummies curated at the University of Tartu Art Museum, Estonia (Late/Graeco-Roman Periods). *PLOS ONE*, **2020**. DOI: 10.1371/ journal.pone.0227446

# DISSERTATIONES CHIMICAE UNIVERSITATIS TARTUENSIS

- 1. **Toomas Tamm.** Quantum-chemical simulation of solvent effects. Tartu, 1993, 110 p.
- 2. **Peeter Burk.** Theoretical study of gas-phase acid-base equilibria. Tartu, 1994, 96 p.
- 3. Victor Lobanov. Quantitative structure-property relationships in large descriptor spaces. Tartu, 1995, 135 p.
- 4. Vahur Mäemets. The <sup>17</sup>O and <sup>1</sup>H nuclear magnetic resonance study of H<sub>2</sub>O in individual solvents and its charged clusters in aqueous solutions of electrolytes. Tartu, 1997, 140 p.
- 5. Andrus Metsala. Microcanonical rate constant in nonequilibrium distribution of vibrational energy and in restricted intramolecular vibrational energy redistribution on the basis of slater's theory of unimolecular reactions. Tartu, 1997, 150 p.
- 6. Uko Maran. Quantum-mechanical study of potential energy surfaces in different environments. Tartu, 1997, 137 p.
- 7. Alar Jänes. Adsorption of organic compounds on antimony, bismuth and cadmium electrodes. Tartu, 1998, 219 p.
- 8. **Kaido Tammeveski.** Oxygen electroreduction on thin platinum films and the electrochemical detection of superoxide anion. Tartu, 1998, 139 p.
- 9. Ivo Leito. Studies of Brønsted acid-base equilibria in water and nonaqueous media. Tartu, 1998, 101 p.
- 10. **Jaan Leis.** Conformational dynamics and equilibria in amides. Tartu, 1998, 131 p.
- 11. **Toonika Rinken.** The modelling of amperometric biosensors based on oxidoreductases. Tartu, 2000, 108 p.
- 12. Dmitri Panov. Partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2000, 64 p.
- 13. Kaja Orupõld. Treatment and analysis of phenolic wastewater with microorganisms. Tartu, 2000, 123 p.
- 14. Jüri Ivask. Ion Chromatographic determination of major anions and cations in polar ice core. Tartu, 2000, 85 p.
- 15. Lauri Vares. Stereoselective Synthesis of Tetrahydrofuran and Tetrahydropyran Derivatives by Use of Asymmetric Horner-Wadsworth-Emmons and Ring Closure Reactions. Tartu, 2000, 184 p.
- 16. **Martin Lepiku.** Kinetic aspects of dopamine D<sub>2</sub> receptor interactions with specific ligands. Tartu, 2000, 81 p.
- 17. **Katrin Sak.** Some aspects of ligand specificity of P2Y receptors. Tartu, 2000, 106 p.
- 18. Vello Pällin. The role of solvation in the formation of iotsitch complexes. Tartu, 2001, 95 p.
- 19. Katrin Kollist. Interactions between polycyclic aromatic compounds and humic substances. Tartu, 2001, 93 p.

- 20. **Ivar Koppel.** Quantum chemical study of acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids. Tartu, 2001, 104 p.
- 21. Viljar Pihl. The study of the substituent and solvent effects on the acidity of OH and CH acids. Tartu, 2001, 132 p.
- 22. **Natalia Palm.** Specification of the minimum, sufficient and significant set of descriptors for general description of solvent effects. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 23. Sulev Sild. QSPR/QSAR approaches for complex molecular systems. Tartu, 2001, 134 p.
- 24. **Ruslan Petrukhin.** Industrial applications of the quantitative structureproperty relationships. Tartu, 2001, 162 p.
- 25. **Boris V. Rogovoy.** Synthesis of (benzotriazolyl)carboximidamides and their application in relations with *N* and *S*-nucleophyles. Tartu, 2002, 84 p.
- 26. Koit Herodes. Solvent effects on UV-vis absorption spectra of some solvatochromic substances in binary solvent mixtures: the preferential solvation model. Tartu, 2002, 102 p.
- 27. Anti Perkson. Synthesis and characterisation of nanostructured carbon. Tartu, 2002, 152 p.
- 28. **Ivari Kaljurand.** Self-consistent acidity scales of neutral and cationic Brønsted acids in acetonitrile and tetrahydrofuran. Tartu, 2003, 108 p.
- 29. Karmen Lust. Adsorption of anions on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 128 p.
- 30. **Mare Piirsalu.** Substituent, temperature and solvent effects on the alkaline hydrolysis of substituted phenyl and alkyl esters of benzoic acid. Tartu, 2003, 156 p.
- 31. Meeri Sassian. Reactions of partially solvated Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003, 78 p.
- 32. **Tarmo Tamm.** Quantum chemical modelling of polypyrrole. Tartu, 2003. 100 p.
- 33. Erik Teinemaa. The environmental fate of the particulate matter and organic pollutants from an oil shale power plant. Tartu, 2003. 102 p.
- 34. Jaana Tammiku-Taul. Quantum chemical study of the properties of Grignard reagents. Tartu, 2003. 120 p.
- 35. Andre Lomaka. Biomedical applications of predictive computational chemistry. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 36. Kostyantyn Kirichenko. Benzotriazole Mediated Carbon–Carbon Bond Formation. Tartu, 2003. 132 p.
- 37. **Gunnar Nurk.** Adsorption kinetics of some organic compounds on bismuth single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2003, 170 p.
- 38. **Mati Arulepp.** Electrochemical characteristics of porous carbon materials and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2003, 196 p.
- 39. **Dan Cornel Fara.** QSPR modeling of complexation and distribution of organic compounds. Tartu, 2004, 126 p.
- 40. **Riina Mahlapuu.** Signalling of galanin and amyloid precursor protein through adenylate cyclase. Tartu, 2004, 124 p.

- 41. **Mihkel Kerikmäe.** Some luminescent materials for dosimetric applications and physical research. Tartu, 2004, 143 p.
- 42. Jaanus Kruusma. Determination of some important trace metal ions in human blood. Tartu, 2004, 115 p.
- 43. Urmas Johanson. Investigations of the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole modified electrodes. Tartu, 2004, 91 p.
- 44. **Kaido Sillar.** Computational study of the acid sites in zeolite ZSM-5. Tartu, 2004, 80 p.
- 45. Aldo Oras. Kinetic aspects of dATP $\alpha$ S interaction with P2Y<sub>1</sub> receptor. Tartu, 2004, 75 p.
- 46. Erik Mölder. Measurement of the oxygen mass transfer through the airwater interface. Tartu, 2005, 73 p.
- 47. **Thomas Thomberg.** The kinetics of electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2005, 95 p.
- 48. Olavi Loog. Aspects of condensations of carbonyl compounds and their imine analogues. Tartu, 2005, 83 p.
- 49. Siim Salmar. Effect of ultrasound on ester hydrolysis in aqueous ethanol. Tartu, 2006, 73 p.
- 50. Ain Uustare. Modulation of signal transduction of heptahelical receptors by other receptors and G proteins. Tartu, 2006, 121 p.
- 51. Sergei Yurchenko. Determination of some carcinogenic contaminants in food. Tartu, 2006, 143 p.
- 52. **Kaido Tämm.** QSPR modeling of some properties of organic compounds. Tartu, 2006, 67 p.
- 53. Olga Tšubrik. New methods in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazines. Tartu. 2006, 183 p.
- 54. Lilli Sooväli. Spectrophotometric measurements and their uncertainty in chemical analysis and dissociation constant measurements. Tartu, 2006, 125 p.
- 55. Eve Koort. Uncertainty estimation of potentiometrically measured ph and  $pK_a$  values. Tartu, 2006, 139 p.
- 56. Sergei Kopanchuk. Regulation of ligand binding to melanocortin receptor subtypes. Tartu, 2006, 119 p.
- 57. Silvar Kallip. Surface structure of some bismuth and antimony single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2006, 107 p.
- 58. **Kristjan Saal.** Surface silanization and its application in biomolecule coupling. Tartu, 2006, 77 p.
- 59. **Tanel Tätte.** High viscosity Sn(OBu)<sub>4</sub> oligomeric concentrates and their applications in technology. Tartu, 2006, 91 p.
- 60. **Dimitar Atanasov Dobchev**. Robust QSAR methods for the prediction of properties from molecular structure. Tartu, 2006, 118 p.
- 61. Hannes Hagu. Impact of ultrasound on hydrophobic interactions in solutions. Tartu, 2007, 81 p.
- 62. **Rutha Jäger.** Electroreduction of peroxodisulfate anion on bismuth electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 142 p.

- 63. **Kaido Viht.** Immobilizable bisubstrate-analogue inhibitors of basophilic protein kinases: development and application in biosensors. Tartu, 2007, 88 p.
- 64. Eva-Ingrid Rõõm. Acid-base equilibria in nonpolar media. Tartu, 2007, 156 p.
- 65. **Sven Tamp.** DFT study of the cesium cation containing complexes relevant to the cesium cation binding by the humic acids. Tartu, 2007, 102 p.
- 66. Jaak Nerut. Electroreduction of hexacyanoferrate(III) anion on Cadmium (0001) single crystal electrode. Tartu, 2007, 180 p.
- 67. Lauri Jalukse. Measurement uncertainty estimation in amperometric dissolved oxygen concentration measurement. Tartu, 2007, 112 p.
- 68. Aime Lust. Charge state of dopants and ordered clusters formation in CaF<sub>2</sub>:Mn and CaF<sub>2</sub>:Eu luminophors. Tartu, 2007, 100 p.
- 69. **Iiris Kahn**. Quantitative Structure-Activity Relationships of environmentally relevant properties. Tartu, 2007, 98 p.
- 70. **Mari Reinik.** Nitrates, nitrites, N-nitrosamines and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons in food: analytical methods, occurrence and dietary intake. Tartu, 2007, 172 p.
- 71. **Heili Kasuk.** Thermodynamic parameters and adsorption kinetics of organic compounds forming the compact adsorption layer at Bi single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2007, 212 p.
- 72. Erki Enkvist. Synthesis of adenosine-peptide conjugates for biological applications. Tartu, 2007, 114 p.
- 73. **Svetoslav Hristov Slavov**. Biomedical applications of the QSAR approach. Tartu, 2007, 146 p.
- 74. Eneli Härk. Electroreduction of complex cations on electrochemically polished Bi(*hkl*) single crystal electrodes. Tartu, 2008, 158 p.
- 75. **Priit Möller.** Electrochemical characteristics of some cathodes for medium temperature solid oxide fuel cells, synthesized by solid state reaction technique. Tartu, 2008, 90 p.
- 76. **Signe Viggor.** Impact of biochemical parameters of genetically different pseudomonads at the degradation of phenolic compounds. Tartu, 2008, 122 p.
- 77. Ave Sarapuu. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on quinone-modified carbon electrodes and on thin films of platinum and gold. Tartu, 2008, 134 p.
- 78. Agnes Kütt. Studies of acid-base equilibria in non-aqueous media. Tartu, 2008, 198 p.
- 79. **Rouvim Kadis.** Evaluation of measurement uncertainty in analytical chemistry: related concepts and some points of misinterpretation. Tartu, 2008, 118 p.
- 80. Valter Reedo. Elaboration of IVB group metal oxide structures and their possible applications. Tartu, 2008, 98 p.
- 81. Aleksei Kuznetsov. Allosteric effects in reactions catalyzed by the cAMPdependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2009, 133 p.

- 82. Aleksei Bredihhin. Use of mono- and polyanions in the synthesis of multisubstituted hydrazine derivatives. Tartu, 2009, 105 p.
- 83. Anu Ploom. Quantitative structure-reactivity analysis in organosilicon chemistry. Tartu, 2009, 99 p.
- Argo Vonk. Determination of adenosine A<sub>2A</sub>- and dopamine D<sub>1</sub> receptorspecific modulation of adenylate cyclase activity in rat striatum. Tartu, 2009, 129 p.
- 85. **Indrek Kivi.** Synthesis and electrochemical characterization of porous cathode materials for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2009, 177 p.
- 86. **Jaanus Eskusson.** Synthesis and characterisation of diamond-like carbon thin films prepared by pulsed laser deposition method. Tartu, 2009, 117 p.
- 87. **Marko Lätt.** Carbide derived microporous carbon and electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2009, 107 p.
- 88. Vladimir Stepanov. Slow conformational changes in dopamine transporter interaction with its ligands. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 89. Aleksander Trummal. Computational Study of Structural and Solvent Effects on Acidities of Some Brønsted Acids. Tartu, 2009, 103 p.
- 90. **Eerold Vellemäe.** Applications of mischmetal in organic synthesis. Tartu, 2009, 93 p.
- 91. **Sven Parkel.** Ligand binding to 5-HT<sub>1A</sub> receptors and its regulation by Mg<sup>2+</sup> and Mn<sup>2+</sup>. Tartu, 2010, 99 p.
- 92. **Signe Vahur.** Expanding the possibilities of ATR-FT-IR spectroscopy in determination of inorganic pigments. Tartu, 2010, 184 p.
- 93. **Tavo Romann**. Preparation and surface modification of bismuth thin film, porous, and microelectrodes. Tartu, 2010, 155 p.
- 94. Nadežda Aleksejeva. Electrocatalytic reduction of oxygen on carbon nanotube-based nanocomposite materials. Tartu, 2010, 147 p.
- 95. **Marko Kullapere.** Electrochemical properties of glassy carbon, nickel and gold electrodes modified with aryl groups. Tartu, 2010, 233 p.
- 96. Liis Siinor. Adsorption kinetics of ions at Bi single crystal planes from aqueous electrolyte solutions and room-temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2010, 101 p.
- 97. **Angela Vaasa.** Development of fluorescence-based kinetic and binding assays for characterization of protein kinases and their inhibitors. Tartu 2010, 101 p.
- 98. **Indrek Tulp.** Multivariate analysis of chemical and biological properties. Tartu 2010, 105 p.
- 99. **Aare Selberg.** Evaluation of environmental quality in Northern Estonia by the analysis of leachate. Tartu 2010, 117 p.
- 100. **Darja Lavõgina.** Development of protein kinase inhibitors based on adenosine analogue-oligoarginine conjugates. Tartu 2010, 248 p.
- 101. Laura Herm. Biochemistry of dopamine  $D_2$  receptors and its association with motivated behaviour. Tartu 2010, 156 p.

- 102. **Terje Raudsepp.** Influence of dopant anions on the electrochemical properties of polypyrrole films. Tartu 2010, 112 p.
- 103. **Margus Marandi.** Electroformation of Polypyrrole Films: *In-situ* AFM and STM Study. Tartu 2011, 116 p.
- 104. **Kairi Kivirand.** Diamine oxidase-based biosensors: construction and working principles. Tartu, 2011, 140 p.
- 105. Anneli Kruve. Matrix effects in liquid-chromatography electrospray mass-spectrometry. Tartu, 2011, 156 p.
- 106. **Gary Urb.** Assessment of environmental impact of oil shale fly ash from PF and CFB combustion. Tartu, 2011, 108 p.
- 107. Nikita Oskolkov. A novel strategy for peptide-mediated cellular delivery and induction of endosomal escape. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 108. **Dana Martin.** The QSPR/QSAR approach for the prediction of properties of fullerene derivatives. Tartu, 2011, 98 p.
- 109. Säde Viirlaid. Novel glutathione analogues and their antioxidant activity. Tartu, 2011, 106 p.
- 110. Ülis Sõukand. Simultaneous adsorption of Cd<sup>2+</sup>, Ni<sup>2+</sup>, and Pb<sup>2+</sup> on peat. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 111. Lauri Lipping. The acidity of strong and superstrong Brønsted acids, an outreach for the "limits of growth": a quantum chemical study. Tartu, 2011, 124 p.
- 112. **Heisi Kurig.** Electrical double-layer capacitors based on ionic liquids as electrolytes. Tartu, 2011, 146 p.
- 113. **Marje Kasari.** Bisubstrate luminescent probes, optical sensors and affinity adsorbents for measurement of active protein kinases in biological samples. Tartu, 2012, 126 p.
- 114. Kalev Takkis. Virtual screening of chemical databases for bioactive molecules. Tartu, 2012, 122 p.
- 115. Ksenija Kisseljova. Synthesis of  $aza-\beta^3$ -amino acid containing peptides and kinetic study of their phosphorylation by protein kinase A. Tartu, 2012, 104 p.
- 116. **Riin Rebane.** Advanced method development strategy for derivatization LC/ESI/MS. Tartu, 2012, 184 p.
- 117. Vladislav Ivaništšev. Double layer structure and adsorption kinetics of ions at metal electrodes in room temperature ionic liquids. Tartu, 2012, 128 p.
- 118. **Irja Helm.** High accuracy gravimetric Winkler method for determination of dissolved oxygen. Tartu, 2012, 139 p.
- 119. Karin Kipper. Fluoroalcohols as Components of LC-ESI-MS Eluents: Usage and Applications. Tartu, 2012, 164 p.
- 120. Arno Ratas. Energy storage and transfer in dosimetric luminescent materials. Tartu, 2012, 163 p.
- 121. **Reet Reinart-Okugbeni**. Assay systems for characterisation of subtypeselective binding and functional activity of ligands on dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2012, 159 p.

- 122. Lauri Sikk. Computational study of the Sonogashira cross-coupling reaction. Tartu, 2012, 81 p.
- 123. Karita Raudkivi. Neurochemical studies on inter-individual differences in affect-related behaviour of the laboratory rat. Tartu, 2012, 161 p.
- 124. **Indrek Saar.** Design of GalR2 subtype specific ligands: their role in depression-like behavior and feeding regulation. Tartu, 2013, 126 p.
- 125. Ann Laheäär. Electrochemical characterization of alkali metal salt based non-aqueous electrolytes for supercapacitors. Tartu, 2013, 127 p.
- Kerli Tõnurist. Influence of electrospun separator materials properties on electrochemical performance of electrical double-layer capacitors. Tartu, 2013, 147 p.
- 127. Kaija Põhako-Esko. Novel organic and inorganic ionogels: preparation and characterization. Tartu, 2013, 124 p.
- 128. Ivar Kruusenberg. Electroreduction of oxygen on carbon nanomaterialbased catalysts. Tartu, 2013, 191 p.
- 129. Sander Piiskop. Kinetic effects of ultrasound in aqueous acetonitrile solutions. Tartu, 2013, 95 p.
- 130. **Ilona Faustova**. Regulatory role of L-type pyruvate kinase N-terminal domain. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 131. **Kadi Tamm.** Synthesis and characterization of the micro-mesoporous anode materials and testing of the medium temperature solid oxide fuel cell single cells. Tartu, 2013, 138 p.
- 132. Iva Bozhidarova Stoyanova-Slavova. Validation of QSAR/QSPR for regulatory purposes. Tartu, 2013, 109 p.
- 133. Vitali Grozovski. Adsorption of organic molecules at single crystal electrodes studied by *in situ* STM method. Tartu, 2014, 146 p.
- 134. Santa Veikšina. Development of assay systems for characterisation of ligand binding properties to melanocortin 4 receptors. Tartu, 2014, 151 p.
- 135. Jüri Liiv. PVDF (polyvinylidene difluoride) as material for active element of twisting-ball displays. Tartu, 2014, 111 p.
- 136. Kersti Vaarmets. Electrochemical and physical characterization of pristine and activated molybdenum carbide-derived carbon electrodes for the oxygen electroreduction reaction. Tartu, 2014, 131 p.
- 137. Lauri Tõntson. Regulation of G-protein subtypes by receptors, guanine nucleotides and Mn<sup>2+</sup>. Tartu, 2014, 105 p.
- 138. Aiko Adamson. Properties of amine-boranes and phosphorus analogues in the gas phase. Tartu, 2014, 78 p.
- 139. **Elo Kibena**. Electrochemical grafting of glassy carbon, gold, highly oriented pyrolytic graphite and chemical vapour deposition-grown graphene electrodes by diazonium reduction method. Tartu, 2014, 184 p.
- Teemu Näykki. Novel Tools for Water Quality Monitoring From Field to Laboratory. Tartu, 2014, 202 p.
- 141. Karl Kaupmees. Acidity and basicity in non-aqueous media: importance of solvent properties and purity. Tartu, 2014, 128 p.
- 142. **Oleg Lebedev**. Hydrazine polyanions: different strategies in the synthesis of heterocycles. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 143. Geven Piir. Environmental risk assessment of chemicals using QSAR methods. Tartu, 2015, 123 p.
- 144. **Olga Mazina.** Development and application of the biosensor assay for measurements of cyclic adenosine monophosphate in studies of G protein-coupled receptor signalinga. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 145. Sandip Ashokrao Kadam. Anion receptors: synthesis and accurate binding measurements. Tartu, 2015, 116 p.
- 146. **Indrek Tallo.** Synthesis and characterization of new micro-mesoporous carbide derived carbon materials for high energy and power density electrical double layer capacitors. Tartu, 2015, 148 p.
- 147. **Heiki Erikson.** Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on nanostructured palladium and gold catalysts. Tartu, 2015, 204 p.
- 148. Erik Anderson. *In situ* Scanning Tunnelling Microscopy studies of the interfacial structure between Bi(111) electrode and a room temperature ionic liquid. Tartu, 2015, 118 p.
- 149. Girinath G. Pillai. Computational Modelling of Diverse Chemical, Biochemical and Biomedical Properties. Tartu, 2015, 140 p.
- 150. **Piret Pikma.** Interfacial structure and adsorption of organic compounds at Cd(0001) and Sb(111) electrodes from ionic liquid and aqueous electrolytes: an *in situ* STM study. Tartu, 2015, 126 p.
- 151. Ganesh babu Manoharan. Combining chemical and genetic approaches for photoluminescence assays of protein kinases. Tartu, 2016, 126 p.
- 152. Carolin Siimenson. Electrochemical characterization of halide ion adsorption from liquid mixtures at Bi(111) and pyrolytic graphite electrode surface. Tartu, 2016, 110 p.
- 153. Asko Laaniste. Comparison and optimisation of novel mass spectrometry ionisation sources. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 154. Hanno Evard. Estimating limit of detection for mass spectrometric analysis methods. Tartu, 2016, 224 p.
- 155. **Kadri Ligi.** Characterization and application of protein kinase-responsive organic probes with triplet-singlet energy transfer. Tartu, 2016, 122 p.
- 156. **Margarita Kagan.** Biosensing penicillins' residues in milk flows. Tartu, 2016, 130 p.
- 157. **Marie Kriisa.** Development of protein kinase-responsive photoluminescent probes and cellular regulators of protein phosphorylation. Tartu, 2016, 106 p.
- 158. **Mihkel Vestli.** Ultrasonic spray pyrolysis deposited electrolyte layers for intermediate temperature solid oxide fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 156 p.
- 159. **Silver Sepp**. Influence of porosity of the carbide-derived carbon on the properties of the composite electrocatalysts and characteristics of polymer electrolyte fuel cells. Tartu, 2016, 137 p.
- 160. Kristjan Haav. Quantitative relative equilibrium constant measurements in supramolecular chemistry. Tartu, 2017, 158 p.

- 161. Anu Teearu. Development of MALDI-FT-ICR-MS methodology for the analysis of resinous materials. Tartu, 2017, 205 p.
- 162. **Taavi Ivan**. Bifunctional inhibitors and photoluminescent probes for studies on protein complexes. Tartu, 2017, 140 p.
- 163. **Maarja-Liisa Oldekop**. Characterization of amino acid derivatization reagents for LC-MS analysis. Tartu, 2017, 147 p.
- 164. Kristel Jukk. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on platinum- and palladium-based nanocatalysts. Tartu, 2017, 250 p.
- 165. Siim Kukk. Kinetic aspects of interaction between dopamine transporter and *N*-substituted nortropane derivatives. Tartu, 2017, 107 p.
- 166. **Birgit Viira**. Design and modelling in early drug development in targeting HIV-1 reverse transcriptase and Malaria. Tartu, 2017, 172 p.
- 167. **Rait Kivi**. Allostery in cAMP dependent protein kinase catalytic subunit. Tartu, 2017, 115 p.
- 168. Agnes Heering. Experimental realization and applications of the unified acidity scale. Tartu, 2017, 123 p.
- 169. **Delia Juronen**. Biosensing system for the rapid multiplex detection of mastitis-causing pathogens in milk. Tartu, 2018, 85 p.
- 170. **Hedi Rahnel.** ARC-inhibitors: from reliable biochemical assays to regulators of physiology of cells. Tartu, 2018, 176 p.
- 171. Anton Ruzanov. Computational investigation of the electrical double layer at metal–aqueous solution and metal–ionic liquid interfaces. Tartu, 2018, 129 p.
- 172. Katrin Kestav. Crystal Structure-Guided Development of Bisubstrate-Analogue Inhibitors of Mitotic Protein Kinase Haspin. Tartu, 2018, 166 p.
- 173. **Mihkel Ilisson.** Synthesis of novel heterocyclic hydrazine derivatives and their conjugates. Tartu, 2018, 101 p.
- 174. Anni Allikalt. Development of assay systems for studying ligand binding to dopamine receptors. Tartu, 2018, 160 p.
- 175. **Ove Oll.** Electrical double layer structure and energy storage characteristics of ionic liquid based capacitors. Tartu, 2018, 187 p.
- 176. **Rasmus Palm.** Carbon materials for energy storage applications. Tartu, 2018, 114 p.
- 177. **Jörgen Metsik.** Preparation and stability of poly(3,4-ethylenedioxythiophene) thin films for transparent electrode applications. Tartu, 2018, 111 p.
- 178. **Sofja Tšepelevitš.** Experimental studies and modeling of solute-solvent interactions. Tartu, 2018, 109 p.
- 179. Märt Lõkov. Basicity of some nitrogen, phosphorus and carbon bases in acetonitrile. Tartu, 2018, 104 p.
- 180. Anton Mastitski. Preparation of  $\alpha$ -aza-amino acid precursors and related compounds by novel methods of reductive one-pot alkylation and direct alkylation. Tartu, 2018, 155 p.
- Jürgen Vahter. Development of bisubstrate inhibitors for protein kinase CK2. Tartu, 2019, 186 p.

- 182. **Piia Liigand.** Expanding and improving methodology and applications of ionization efficiency measurements. Tartu, 2019, 189 p.
- 183. **Sigrid Selberg.** Synthesis and properties of lipophilic phosphazene-based indicator molecules. Tartu, 2019, 74 p.
- 184. **Jaanus Liigand.** Standard substance free quantification for LC/ESI/MS analysis based on the predicted ionization efficiencies. Tartu, 2019, 254 p.
- 185. **Marek Mooste.** Surface and electrochemical characterisation of aryl film and nanocomposite material modified carbon and metal-based electrodes. Tartu, 2019, 304 p.
- 186. **Mare Oja.** Experimental investigation and modelling of pH profiles for effective membrane permeability of drug substances. Tartu, 2019, 306 p.
- 187. Sajid Hussain. Electrochemical reduction of oxygen on supported Pt catalysts. Tartu, 2019, 220 p.
- 188. **Ronald Väli.** Glucose-derived hard carbon electrode materials for sodiumion batteries. Tartu, 2019, 180 p.
- 189. Ester Tee. Analysis and development of selective synthesis methods of hierarchical micro- and mesoporous carbons. Tartu, 2019, 210 p.
- 190. **Martin Maide.** Influence of the microstructure and chemical composition of the fuel electrode on the electrochemical performance of reversible solid oxide fuel cell. Tartu, 2020, 144 p.
- 191. Edith Viirlaid. Biosensing Pesticides in Water Samples. Tartu, 2020, 102 p.
- 192. **Maike Käärik.** Nanoporous carbon: the controlled nanostructure, and structure-property relationships. Tartu, 2020, 162 p.
- 193. Artur Gornischeff. Study of ionization efficiencies for derivatized compounds in LC/ESI/MS and their application for targeted analysis. Tartu, 2020, 124 p.
- 194. **Reet Link.** Ligand binding, allosteric modulation and constitutive activity of melanocortin-4 receptors. Tartu, 2020, 108 p.